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--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Are there any preliminary matters before we begin with panel 2?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  There are a few.  May I advise the Board that we have filed this morning undertaking answer J3.6, which was to provide the most current long-term outlook document.  And, as it turns out, the most current version is already provided evidence in confidential filing Exhibit KX1.4.

Secondly, Undertaking J3.7 has been satisfied this morning, and the gist of it is that a summary of the rate filing was not provided to the minister after meeting with the board of directors in May.

The third item that I would like to speak to very briefly is the request -- or, in fact, not the request -- the order of the Board to produce the confidential needs study that you recall, Mr. Shepherd asked for.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, the ten-year outlook?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's right.  I have some copies here this morning.  We ask that this be given the highest level of confidentiality.  I know you don't have gradients, but this is considered to be extremely confidential, for reasons which I can explain very briefly for you.

There are a limited number of copies available, Mr. Sommerville.  We virtually rounded up copies from people at Hydro One last night, I understand, to have them this morning.  I have them here.

There's two documents.  There is -- to give you an idea of what's involved here, the summary document, the executive summary is about 60 pages long, and then there is -- the full document is here, as well.  It's quite an elaborate coloured copy.  I have, I think, eight or nine copies here in the hearing room this morning.

It's confidential for a number of reasons.  I will just explain briefly to you why we ask that this be kept confidential. Let me explain a little bit what it is.  First of all, this needs study I am advised is a very high-level needs assessment, a ten-year outlook.  It was done in 2008, finalized just at the beginning of 2009.  The report is February 2009.  So the work was done in 2008.

It contains a great deal of detail, but it's a forward-looking document, and it is relevant in a sense, I suppose, as to what the company thought the most -- no, sorry, what the company was thinking ahead ten years on this needs assessment.  However, it's only one of the inputs to the business plan in the rate case that you have before you here.

And so what we would say, that what is relevant to this case as what the company thought most important for it to do is already in the business plan.  Some of it comes out of this.  Some of it is independent judgment on the part of management, and so on.  So they don't line up precisely.

This needs study was only an input to the company's final decision as to what was required and what found its way into this rate filing, for example.

I am told that it has a very high security value, in the sense -- literally, security value.  It pinpoints where all the facilities are in the province, and I am instructed that Hydro One has been advised that this should be kept strictly confidential.  And, first of all, for that reason, I ask that it be given confidential status.

As well, it contains information, I understand, dealing with individual customers who are identified, which would be confidential, and, as well, there is some commercial value, I suppose, to my client, as well, in the sense of it shows what their plans are about expansions, and so on, in a competitive marketplace.

So for those reasons, I ask that it be kept confidential.  I also ask that if people would like to look at it, maybe we could share some copies so I don't have to make more.  It would be quite expensive to colour copy this.

And, lastly, may I ask that as a condition of -- or imposed on the confidentiality element, that the copies be returned to Hydro One, rather than destroyed.  For one thing, they have been taken from people who are using them -- or who have them in their library, I guess.

So with that, I am ready to provide it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any submissions on this point at this stage from anyone?  On an interim basis, we will certainly afford the document confidential status.  It may be that once people have the document, they may want to make submissions on that subject, and we will leave that possibility open.

But I would urge that the parties use the absolute highest care with respect to protecting the confidentiality of the document.  And your condition, Mr. Rogers, that the document be returned, I am going to suggest at the earliest opportunity, to Hydro One is approved.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And, again, I urge all the parties to be extremely vigilant in protecting this document.

MR. ROGERS:  I should also say, sir, that if there are questions dealing with this, panel 2 is probably the best one to deal with it.  I am anticipating a problem, because I see Mr. Shepherd isn't here this morning.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  Unfortunately, he is unwell this morning and sent me an e-mail to that effect.

MR. ROGERS:  This panel, I understand, can answer questions about this document, if need be.  This is the best panel to ask of it.  Now, panel 4 -- and I hate to keep punting things to panel 4.  I am afraid they might not come, but I am told they can probably answer questions about this at a high level.

If there are relevant detailed questions that you think are appropriate, then my client is certainly willing to answer them in writing for Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As is always the case with undertaking responses, there may be questions arising as a result of them, and the Board has to find a convenient way of allowing that to happen and we will manage that.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are you satisfied with that at this stage, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir, I am.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is everyone content that we can proceed at this stage?  I think we have a panel to be sworn.

MR. ROGERS:  We do.  Might they be sworn, please.

MS. LEA:  And we will need to give this an exhibit number when you are ready, Mr. Chair.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2 - OM&A AND CAPITAL: SUSTAINMENT, AND OPERATIONS, TRANSMISSION BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

George Juhn, Sworn


Carmine Marcello, Sworn


Andrew Spencer, Sworn


Paul Tremblay, Sworn


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Conboy.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Board, I can tell you that the evidence of panel 2, the areas of the evidence they will be dealing with and the interrogatory answers for which they are responsible, can be found at Exhibit A, tab 18, schedule 1, page 3 of 13.

With that, I would like to qualify the witnesses and introduce them to you.  Starting at the left, Mr. Tremblay, I think we will begin with you, sir.

I understand, Mr. Tremblay, that you are an electrical engineer, having received your degree from the University of New Brunswick in 1981?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your professional work, I think, with the old Ontario Hydro back in 1981, or so?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have stayed with the company through its various successors since them --

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  -- in various capacities?  You have been a senior operations engineer and power systems operations, among other things?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You were the manager of operating practices and solutions and asset management from 2001 -- starting 2001?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you are presently the director network operating grid operations for the company?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  We have filed a copy of your curriculum vitae as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 12, Mr. Tremblay.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience, sir?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, it's accurate.

MR. ROGERS:  Could you just tell us very briefly which areas of the evidence you will be responding to this morning?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I will be responding to operations, sustainment and capital.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you very much.  Moving to your right, we have Mr. Carmine Marcello.  Good morning Mr. Marcello.

MR. MARCELLO:  Good morning.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand, sir, that you are also an engineer having obtained your electrical engineering degree from the University of Toronto in 1987?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  You also hold a master of business administration degree from York University, granted in 1992?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Copy of your curriculum vitae is filed at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 7.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications, sir?

MR. MARCELLO:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  I see from it that you have been employed with -- it looks like the Hydro group of companies from about 1987 to the present time?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your career as assistant planning engineer officer in the power system program back in 1987.

MR. MARCELLO:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have progressed through various areas in the corporation, increasing areas of responsibility since that time?

MR. MARCELLO:  I have.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand presently you hold to position of senior vice-president asset management for the corporation?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you ever testified in a rate filing before this Board before?

MR. MARCELLO:  Rate filing, no.  section 92.

MR. ROGERS:  You appeared once in a section 92 application, I believe?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Marcello, what areas of the evidence will you be responding to?

MR. MARCELLO:  Overall, the sustainment program, so both capital, OM&A associated with transmission existing asset and policy questions in those areas.

MR. ROGERS:  You are the senior vice-president responsible for those areas within the company, I understand?

MR. MARCELLO:  I am.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

Moving to your right we, have Mr. Juhn.

Mr. Juhn, your CV is filed at Exhibit A, Tab 19, schedule 1, page 6?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And it's an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. JUHN:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  You have testified before this Board, I think, two other occasions, have you not?  At least?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.  Three occasions.

MR. ROGERS:  Three occasions, all right.  Thank you.

I see you also are an engineer, a civil engineer, having obtained your degree from the University of Waterloo in 1982?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have worked for a number of companies including SaskPower?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  LeBlanc and Royal Telecom Inc.?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Ontario Hydro?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And now, Hydro One Inc.?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You are presently the director of sustainment investment planning and asset management for the company, I understand?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell us which areas of the evidence you are responsible for and can respond to, please.


MR. JUHN:  Overall sustaining OM&A, with specific focus on the lines investments and protection and controls.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Spencer, I understand, Mr. Spencer, that you are also an engineer, an electrical engineer, having obtained your degree from Queen's University in 2002?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is set out in Exhibit A, at page 10 of the exhibit have been talking about?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  It's an accurate description of your qualifications, I assume?

MR. SPENCER:  It is, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, sir, I understand that you joined the company in 2002?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  As an assistant maintenance engineer?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You have been involved as maintenance engineer up until the present time?

MR. SPENCER:  Currently I hold the position within asset management as sustainment manager.

MR. ROGERS:  Right but you are still -– but you're in management of sustainment investment planning and asset management, are you?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Which areas of the evidence will you be dealing with, Mr. Spencer?

MR. SPENCER:  I will be speaking to the sustainment OM&A and capital, with a specific focus on the station investments.

MR. ROGERS:  Is this your first time testifying before this Board?

MR. SPENCER:  It is, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Marcello, I wonder if you, as the senior person on the panel, can confirm for us that the evidence for which this panel is responsible is, so far as you are aware, an accurate reflection of the companies affairs in these areas.

MR. MARCELLO:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

The witnesses are available for questioning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Faye, I see you reaching for the button.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I will be asking questions on behalf of Energy Probe.  There is a bit of a visual problem with the column here, but I will do my best to lean out when I am asking questions of the witnesses to the left.

All of my questions are going to be concerning our Energy Probe IRs, and a couple of Board Staff IRs, so there may be reference to application evidence, but largely it's going to be IR responses.

And I would like you to turn up our Energy Probe No. 13, which would be Exhibit I, Tab 2, schedule 13.

You have that?

This interrogatory questions the forecasted spending and sustaining OM&A, and contrasts it with the requested spending in your previous rate application, EB-2008-0272.

Your explanation for the reduced spending in this application, if I have read your response correctly, is that in this Board Decision on 0272, your sustaining program OM&A was reduced by $15 million, and in this application the numbers that you are looking for are approximately the same as in 0272 that the Board approved.

I wonder if you could just elaborate on why you didn't come back with the $15 million added back in.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, I can do that.

Following the decision of the Board from the 0272 hearing, as we indicated in this response, we did make some reductions in our equipment OM&A.

Going forward, this application before the Board for the 2011 and 2012 test years, we feel represents a necessary need, in line with our customer's expectations and our need for the assets within the '11 and '12 test period.

MR. FAYE:  At the bottom of the first page of the response, there is a statement.  I will just read it quickly:

"A shift was made in 2010 to reduce work to a level that would maintain reliability in the short term, and in the process provide time to re-evaluate the need for higher levels of investment."

And I would like to ask you about this re-evaluation of the need for higher levels.  Have you conducted that re-evaluation to this point?

MR. SPENCER:  We conduct that on an ongoing basis, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And because of the fact that you have come in asking for about the same amount of money as the Board awarded you in –0272, can I conclude from that that your re-evaluation concluded that the $15 million was not necessary?

MR. SPENCER:  I would not say that necessarily, no.  In our 0272 application, as we indicate here, we had a portion of the application which was intended to improve reliability of our major power equipment assets, to some extent through OM&A expenditures.

In light of everything that's happening within the industry and the economy, we have taken a step back and we have put forward a program which we feel meets the ability to maintain reliability over the '11 and '12 test years, and we are studying the longer-term OM&A impacts with that in mind.

We are attempting to hold generally constant our OM&A expenditures, despite increasing needs in terms of aging infrastructure and regulatory needs that are being placed on us, such as PCB regulations from Environment Canada, and in some calculations guidance from NERC and other reliability-focussed organizations.

So we understand the importance of a tightly managed OM&A program, and this program here that we put forward in '11 and '12, we feel meets these needs specifically.

MR. FAYE:  Should we expect in a future rate filing a large increase in OM&A costs?  Or do I understand you to say that you sort of hit a plateau that you think you can maintain beyond the test years, or not beyond the test years?

MR. SPENCER:  I wouldn't say we are quite at that plateau yet, in all honesty.  The demographics we've presented in the Exhibit C1-2-2, appendix A specifically, they will indicate that a lot of our major infrastructure
–- transformers, circuit breakers, protection control assets our transmission lines -- generally are getting older.

We have intensive capital programs to manage the units at the highest risk, but it should be understood that the aging infrastructure, incoming regulatory pressures, are affecting our long-term OM&A spend.

In the near term, this is where we see the spending level.  We are going to do our best to keep it at a manageable level, but as expected, there will be some long-term pressures on OM&A and our capital programs.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  As a final comment, could I assume that the program that you have will give satisfactory reliability?

MR. SPENCER:  We are looking to maintain reliability at existing levels over the test year periods.  Long-term, there is likely a need for more investment to continue that reliability preservation.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks for that.  Could you turn up our next IR, being Energy Probe 15?  That would be Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 15.  You have that one?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  This one discusses the increased staff in your operations program, and we asked you for a head count, basically, and to distinguish that total head count between apprentices and people who were at journey person status.  And you have provided that.

What I wanted to ask you was:  Has the suspension of development work on the schedule A GEA projects affected your need for staff in the operations department, as shown on this chart here?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I guess the short answer is, no, we have -- the main -- the main areas of staffing increases at present have been to -- basically are driven a lot by demographics of our operators, the population of our main operators.  And as you can see from our apprentices that we have hired, the bulk of those numbers have actually been for operators in the control room.

We are still basically bringing up those numbers to where -- to a point of where we need in terms of being able to manage the control room day to day.

In terms of some of the GEA projects, we have -- we do have some numbers still in for the test years in '11 and '12 that if -- depending on how some of these projects materialize, we will probably see some increases.

The biggest increases that we are forecasting, I think, would be somewhat in our engineering staff in the back office that provide support to the operating functions, and, as well, we possibly may see some increase in our control room complement.  And that's actually driven mostly by the amount of distributed generation that is going in on the distribution network and being connected to our system.

So from what we have seen in terms of the commitments for distributed generation and some of those changes, we will be moving forward with that hiring, in all likelihood.

MR. FAYE:  So in the lines that we quoted out of Exhibit C1-2-5 -- that would be lines 22 to 24 on page 4, an excerpt which appears right in this IR, that the increased costs are attributable to:
"...an increase in staff to meet increasing work loads as a result of larger Sustaining and Development capital work programs and Green Energy related work."


Do I understand you to be saying that it's not development and green energy work necessarily on the transmission system that are driving these numbers, but it could be work on the distribution system, generator connections on the distribution system?  Is that -- have I got that correct?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No, it's -- a lot of the generators that are being connected, even though they are on the distribution system, they do have an impact at the transmission level feeding into the transformer stations, and so forth.  So most of the impact that I am talking about would still be seen as transmission related.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So let me just summarize what I think I have heard.  Part of this increase in staff is to replace operators that are nearing retirement, and you have to train them, so you have to get them early.  Part of it is because generators are connecting to the distribution system that require some work on transmission assets.  That's why you have it in this application.  Have I got that about right?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  And I think the other thing I would point out in terms of the table, those were the total numbers at the Ontario Grid Control Centre.  So there is a component on that table that is distribution.  We gave the total number, so we haven't given the full breakdown split in terms of transmission and distribution.

But in terms of the operators that I spoke to, they are predominantly all for the transmission function.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the 2010 number of apprentices, only, there is a forecast of 51 individuals to be hired.  Do you have a year-to-date number of how many have actually been hired?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Sorry, I just had to find the numbers here.  Our current numbers, CTs...

We are currently sitting at approximately, I think, 45.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.  The next IR I would like to ask you some questions about is Energy Probe 19.  That's Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 19.  And this one -- have you got that up?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  You have that one?  This one talks about increased costs in the environment health and safety and the -- by way of our calculation, it seems to be 54 percent increase compared to the bridge year.

And I wanted to ask you for some details on why health and safety and environment costs should be increasing so dramatically.  Your response says that 86 percent of that increase, or 1.2 million, is due to programs to enhance health and safety.

I wonder if you could address that first.  Why do you need more and new programs to address health and safety?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We've -- over the last year, there is probably two key things driving this number.  The first is in terms of ensuring that we meet all of our regulations as they relate to health and safety.  We have introduced a number of new managed systems to oversee our training requirements, and we see an ongoing need and, if you will, an increasing need in terms of managing our training, reporting on that in order to meet the regulations and requirements in that area.

The other part of the increase is we have introduced a new program within the company, I guess, titled Journey to Zero.  And it's -- the intention is that we are trying to, if you will, change the culture within the company to drive a higher degree of safety.  We have a very big focus on safety within our company and -- but what we have seen over the last number of years, we have -- if you will, we have kind of plateaued, and we are looking to make some major improvements and drive our safety really to the next level.

So we are rolling out this major program, and we expect to see some -- obviously some of the costs on that over the next couple of years.

MR. FAYE:  Now, you said two things there that I am not entirely certain what they mean.  The first was that you apparently have some administrative requirements to meet regulations of health and safety, either the OSHA or other health and safety regulations.

Could you elaborate a little bit on what these -- are these new regulations you are talking about?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No, they are not necessarily all new.  We are -- we have been over the last year, and, in fact, at this time, we are going through a Workwell audit, and we are putting a lot of -- obviously a lot of time in terms of ensuring that we meet the requirements of the audit and that we are compliant with that, which -- one of the areas has required us to go through all of our safety documents and procedures and, for the most part, update them, enhance them, in order to be fully compliant with Workwell requirements.

In keeping with that, we have recently rolled out a new training management system and -- inputting into that system, and there is some costs there in terms of the overall year-to-year running of that system.

So that's one of the areas where we see an increase.

MR. FAYE:  All right, so the Workwell audit, is that an internal audit?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No, that's through the Ministry of Labour.

MR. FAYE:  Ministry of Labour?  Okay.

So naturally, you have to respond to their audit report, but is that a one-time-off effort?  Once you have responded and put in the appropriate systems or responses, is that an ongoing cost?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It will be -- most of the cost is upfront, changing -- in terms of preparing and changing over our systems to be fully compliant with the expectations, but then once that is complete, there will be some ongoing costs associated with maintaining it at that level.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So of the $1.2 million increase in this account, how much would this response to the Workwell audit comprise?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I actually don't have that number with me at this time.

MR. FAYE:  Can you make a guess at it?  Is it 10 percent of the 1.2, or 50 percent?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I think the majority is with our Journey to Zero initiative.  So it --

MR. FAYE:  I am only asking because if it's an inconsequential number, I don't want to waste time focussing on it.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  And if most of your costs are on this Journey to Zero, let's spend our time on that one.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  Is that a fair way to approach?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  So on Journey to Zero, can you just give us a sort of a thumbnail sketch of what that program is – involves, and why it's different from what you have been doing before?

MR. MARCELLO:  So the Journey to Zero, as the name implies, is driving a culture where we will see zero workplace injuries.

Mr. Tremblay pointed out that we've seemed to have plateaued.  While our performance is respectable against CEA benchmarks, our feeling is that there should be no workplace injuries, no workplace fatalities, and driving a culture of achieving that is really what we are trying to do.

One of the things we did as a management team and then reaffirmed with our board was the vision of getting to zero workplace injuries.  We looked outside our industry; we looked at other industries that one would argue are equally dangerous but have been able to achieve better results, and we looked for opportunities to try those methodologies, those approaches, within Hydro One.

One of the things that's central to that whole shift in mindset, shift in culture, is getting people at the work face involved in identifying safety issues, safety problems, and then systematically tackling them one at a time.

Again, you have people at a work face.  You have participation of the major unions and senior management.  External consultants have been brought in to help target areas of concern.  A steering committee chaired by our president, with membership from many of my peers in addition to the union executives, sit and review suggestions from the work face, and not just the work face but all levels in the company, in terms of specific initiatives to make things better, to drive a culture of improved safety performance.

It's very much an iterative process, very much a "let's tackle the top three things we think we can fix, see what we can do, and move on to the next three."

And again, our hope, our strong desire -- that of, I think, everyone on the steering committee -- is to drive to a culture of zero fatalities.

MR. FAYE:  I understand the objective.  And it's the same objective you have had for 50 years.  There was the same sort of rhetoric applied to this when I was with the company 30 years ago.

What I am concerned about is that unless you have a problem, why spend more money fixing it?

And I would like to turn you to an excerpt from the First Quartile Consulting report, and it was an attachment to Board Staff 8.  If you could turn that up, that would be I-1-8, attachment 1.

MR. MARCELLO:  What page within the attachment, sorry?

MR. FAYE:  This would be page 1 of 2, and it's findings from the benchmarking analysis.  The headline is:  "Hydro One benchmarking summary using First Quartile Consulting data."

MR. MARCELLO:  Sorry, I have got Exhibit AI, tab 1, schedule 8, page 1 of 1.  I don't see 1 of 2.  I am missing something.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it on your screen, Mr. Marcello?

MR. FAYE:  Do you have an attachment to that –-

MR. MARCELLO:  Okay.  I'll work the screen.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if you look at the bottom there 
-- "Safety, four-year average lost time incident rate" --and Hydro One is in quartile 1.  Now, do I take it quartile 1 is a good quartile to be in, in this particular metric?

MR. MARCELLO:  Quartile 1 would be a positive outcome, yes.

MR. FAYE:  It's the best, isn't it?  Four is the worst?

MR. MARCELLO:  It's better than 4, yeah.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is there anything above 1?  Do they measure above quartile 1?

MR. MARCELLO:  No, no.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So from that point of view, you're leading the industry, at least for the comparators here.  If you are in quartile 1, you are one of the best?

MR. MARCELLO:  Within the benchmark here, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then if you flip over to page 2 of that same attachment, the bullet 1.3, "Safety" says:

"Hydro One achieved first quartile with lost time at incidents, and is well ahead of the community."

That would also seem to indicate that, by comparison, you are doing exceptionally well compared to everybody else; would you agree with that?

MR. MARCELLO:  We are doing well.

MR. FAYE:  All right, just to reinforce the point, if you could turn up Exhibit A13-1?

MR. MARCELLO:  We have it.

MR. FAYE:  On page 3 of that exhibit, there is a table near the top of the page?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, sir.

MR. FAYE:  And it shows your lost time injury performance, and I am looking particularly at the summary line, the second summary line, which is, I think, measured per 200,000 of working hours.  Have I got that right?  That fraction is lost time injures divided by -- the number of lost time injury in 200,000 hours of work; is that right?

MR. MARCELLO:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And you see how that has trended downwards, gone from .5, .6 -- this is 2005 and 2006 -- and then it's managed to get to 0.3, and it stayed there through 2009, which to me indicates that you have had a downward trend in lost time injuries.  You have been doing a good job; would you agree with that?

MR. MARCELLO:  We have made performance improvements.  I think the data shows that.  We are doing quite well relative to industry benchmarks, but there is a couple of things to keep in mind.  Our work force is also rejuvenating.  We are bringing new people in.  We have an opportunity to ingrain a new culture.

And, again, let's keep in mind -- and we only have to look at the papers of the past week to know that there was fatality in this industry, and regardless of the statistics, Hydro One has experienced fatalities, as well.  And I know, from dealing with my peers who have had to deal with that, no one wants to have to deal with a family who has suffered that.

As an underlying premise in all of this is the Journey to Zero.  I stress the word "journey", because it is aspirational.  We hope to get there.  To try to say to our staff, You hit 0.3; that's 50 percent better than 0.6, but one of you might still be going home dead is just not on.

And we are trying to make sure that with all the new employees that are coming on, that they are going to learn the best habits from our best people, and, hopefully, where there is someone outside of our industry who can show us a better way, we want to hear it.  We want to learn it.

So while I appreciate there are cost constraints, and I understand where you are going in terms of your questioning, this is an area that is paramount to the company.  And I think even in looking at many of those memos, we spent a lot of time over the past view days trying to understand:  What does our board understand or not?  In every one of those, you will see safety is at the pinnacle of the pyramid there.

And this is a very real example of how our investments align with the direction of the company.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  I do appreciate the emotional appeal of this kind of a subject, and it's a treacherous ground to tread on.  I understand that.  What I am trying to just clarify is that for an industry leader, you have been doing more than a respectable job of safety.  You have got an exemplary record here.

And my only concern is that throwing another $1 million at it is probably not going to get you to zero.  You probably will never get to zero, despite a laudable intention.  In fact, the program that you have been running, I'd suggest, is a very good program and has had excellent results.

I am only questioning why another $1 million would make a big difference there.

MR. MARCELLO:  One of the external companies we have brought in to help guide us in this area is Dupont and companies associated with implementing their methodology and their philosophy.  They are largely viewed as the industry leader.

And one of the things that was very compelling in their discussion is that, as you implement the culture of safety, you will start to see over time benefits that you didn't count on.  Planning your work better results in more effective and efficient execution of that work.

They have been at it a long time.  They have been able to quantify operational savings and benefits.  I think two years from now, when I am in this chair and you are asking me this question, I would fully expect you to say:  What other benefits are you seeing?  I think that's a fair question.

Right now, we are in the infancy.  We have brought this plan forward for safety reasons, not for operational, but others are saying that good processes in the safety area pay broader dividends.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that's a suitable point at which to end the inquiry into this.  And two years from now, I probably will ask you that question.

Could I ask you to turn to Energy Probe 27; Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 27?  Do you have that?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  The subject of this IR was productivity and cost savings management, and we asked you about any studies that you might have undertaken, subsequent to the Mercer study, that was submitted with the previous rate filing, 0272, with which Energy Probe and many other intervenors had some serious reservations.

And your response is that you haven't prepared any further studies and you haven't planned to undertake studies at this time.  I wonder if you could just elaborate a little on that.  Do you plan to try to update that Mercer study or undertake a brand new study sometime in the near future?

MR. MARCELLO:  In terms of studies, no.  In terms of activity to demonstrate and drive productivity internal to the company, I think we have tried to demonstrate that within the evidence itself.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's an excellent segue, because, of course, that's where I was going next.  Would you turn up Exhibit A-14-1, and we will look at page 2 to start?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, sir.

MR. FAYE:  This part of the evidence is responding to Board directives from previous decisions, and, in particular, the 0272 decision, and in the middle of the page, item 3.0, past, current and future cost efficiency initiatives.

So what I would like to do just quickly is go down each of these and ask you:  Is this a past, current or future initiative?  So number 1, the use of helicopters, is that something new or is that something you have been doing for a long time?

MR. MARCELLO:  It's ongoing.

MR. FAYE:  Ongoing, okay.  The use of AirStair, is that a new initiative or an old one?

MR. MARCELLO:  Ongoing.  The improvement to management of planned equipment outages, I think the example was this NOMS v2.  Is that a new system or something that's been in place for a while?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would say -- I would characterize that one as being an ongoing one, but there are elements of new systems being added.  So it's something we have always looked at, always worked to improve on, and in the latest version of tools -- and you will see it's listed there, the network outage management system, NOMS, Version 2, that would be new.

And I think Mr. Tremblay could elaborate if you would like.

MR. FAYE:  No.  At the moment, I would just like to identify which ones of these are in which category, past, present and future.  The improved and focussed trades training program, how would you characterize that one, a new initiative or old or it's ongoing?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would say there is an element of newness in terms of the new hires, but, again, it would have been something that was ongoing, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Moving to implementation of new tools and technologies, the network management system, is that new?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Distance default project, is that new or ongoing?

MR. MARCELLO:  That one is new, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Developing a more multi-skilled work force, ongoing or new?

MR. MARCELLO:  Ongoing.

MR. FAYE:  Increased staff flexibility, ongoing or new?

MR. MARCELLO:  It has been ongoing.  I believe there are elements of new skills in the P&C area.

Mr. Goldie would be able to elaborate on it, but in terms of the use of Hiring Hall, it's not something new.  In terms of trying to broaden the use of Hiring Hall, that would be an element of newness, and I would refer you to panel 3 for details on that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Improvements in the fleet management business -- we will take these one at a time.

Warranty claims management, is that a new program or is that something that's always been there?

MR. MARCELLO:  For the purposes of the rate filing, I would say it was something that was ongoing.  There are elements of continuous improvements in a lot of these areas, so...

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I think I am only trying to distinguish between those kinds of things that you've been doing, and there might be in twists on it.  Maybe people were improving the system as they go along, as you would expect, as against brand new initiatives, things that hadn't been in place before.

MR. MARCELLO:  For example, an AirStair has been around since 2002, but there are new twists on how it gets applied and used.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. MARCELLO:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  Fuel discounts, is that -- how do you get a fuel discount?  Is that just bulk buying?

MR. MARCELLO:  It is.  The fleet management team would work with suppliers on bulk purchases.

MR. FAYE:  So that would be something that you have been doing all along, I would think?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would have to -- I don't know the answer to that one specifically.

MR. FAYE:  Well, subject to check, surely your crews weren't all going out and buying fuel at the local Esso station by themselves and then claiming expenses, were they?

MR. MARCELLO:  As I said, I don't know the answer.  My sense is it would be an ongoing process for fleet management.

MR. FAYE:  That's okay.  The recap tire program, is that a new one or an ongoing?

MR. MARCELLO:  Again, in the area of fleet, I would have to take an undertaking, if you had more detail you were requesting.

MR. FAYE:  Let me think about it until we are finished this little section of questioning, and I will see if it's going to be of any significance.

Over the page on page 4, vehicle standardization program, is that a new initiative?

MR. MARCELLO:  Let's put it all in the same undertaking.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. MARCELLO:  It's fleet.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Then perhaps if you could give me an undertaking to explain whether fuel discounts, reduction in premium fuel usage, recap tire program and vehicle standardization program are new initiatives or whether they are ongoing initiatives?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  J4.1, please.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  TO EXPLAIN WHETHER FUEL DISCOUNTS, REDUCTION IN PREMIUM FUEL USAGE, RECAP TIRE PROGRAM AND VEHICLE STANDARDIZATION PROGRAM ARE NEW INITIATIVES OR ONGOING INITIATIVES.

MR. FAYE:  Next on the list, the full use of temporary headquarters for work crews?

MR. MARCELLO:  Ongoing.

MR. FAYE:  That's ongoing?

And the last one, continued outsourcing of work opportunities, by its wording, suggests its ongoing, right?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would suggest it's ongoing.  However, the scale and scope is very different than it would have been in the past.

Panel 1, in talking about the Green Energy Plan and the ability to execute that plan, put in place initiatives to increase the ability and the scope of outsourcing to execute larger work programs.

So the idea isn't a new one, the scale is, and the size and the approach would be.

MR. FAYE:  While we are on that particular one, can you sort of give us an idea of quantifying?  Like, of your work program, how much do you manage to outsource?

MR. JUHN:  We provide evidence in Exhibit A, tab 12 -- we provided evidence in Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 7, on page 9.

The outsourcing total for 2009 would have been 85 million, for 2010 155 million, for 2011 195.  So as you can see, the amount of outsourcing is increasing.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I see that in absolute numbers.

As a percentage of your work program, how would you quantify it?  Your work program is increasing through these years, right?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.

MR. FAYE:  So if I was to take from 2009 at 85 million to 2011 at 195, so let's say that's roughly double, has your program roughly doubled in that period of time?

MR. JUHN:  If we are looking at the capital investments, which would be a summary of the capital investments under D1, tab 3, schedule 1, and we would look at the sustaining and development, the magnitude of those particular -- in those particular areas, no, it wouldn't have been doubled.

I don't have the calculation on-hand, but just looking at the gross numbers, the capital program between 2009 and 2011, is definitely not doubled.

MR. FAYE:  Are you looking at the numbers right there?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, I am.  Table 1, D1, tab 3, schedule 1, table 1.

MR. FAYE:  Just for convenience, could you just read me the 2009 capital number and the 2011?

MR. JUHN:  Sustaining would be 300 million. Development would be 516 million.

So a total of about 816 million.

And if you look at 2011, the total is somewhere in the neighbourhood of a billion, 30-some million.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's fine.

MR. JUHN:  Actually, the increase is about 225 million.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So about a 25 percent increase, roughly?

All right.  Going back, then, just to what we were just summarizing, whether things are new or ongoing, it looks like out of these initiatives, of which there are one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, 10, 11, 12 -- we talked about 13 initiatives, some of which had sub things, like the fleet management business had sub parts to it.

Out of those 13, we have got nine or 10 that were already in place, some of which have got new wrinkles -- I have given them a "plus" -- and only three appear to be new.  Those are the NOMS system, the network management system, and the distance-to-fault project.

So what I wanted to ask you was:  In your explanation, persuading the Board that you have been taking strides to improve efficiency, would the three that I have mentioned as new -- NOMS, NMS and distance-to-fault – would they --how would you characterize them as improving your efficiency?  Are they big contributors?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I guess for the ones you have just mentioned -- the NOMS, the NMS, distance-to-fault -- they all have, in terms of efficiency overall, they all have the potential to add, I would say, what I would consider material gains in efficiency, in terms of overall impact on our work programs.

An example would be the NOMS, and some of the bundling of outage initiatives that we are hoping -- that area where we're hoping to move forward once we get the new program in place.  And one of the areas is -- that this new program will allow is an interface with our main system, our SAP systems.  And once we have that, we have looking that from a bundled outage perspective, that we may be able to see savings ranging just over a million per year for that.

That's what we are hoping to realize.

And I think the other area, of course, is in terms of the impact on the power system itself and on our customers.  We see a lot more impact from our customers in terms of trying to arrange outages.  The impact especially on industrial customers is quite -- can be very impactive on their operations.

So that's an area where, if we can reduce the number of times we put them on single supply or if we have to actually coordinate an outage with them, that makes a huge benefit to the customer directly.

So, again, that's a bundling part of the initiative, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Those kinds of improvements would be forthcoming sometime during the test years, you think?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But you are not at that point yet?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  Again, from a bundling -- using that one, because that is the one we have been working on for some time, with the existing tools and with the process we have in place, we have kind of peaked out in terms of what we can do, but what we know that there is a lot of potential there in improved tools.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And is the same true of this other one, this NOMS thing?  You were taking about the network management system.  Is NOMS a --

MR. TREMBLAY:  No, sorry.  I was talking about -- the NOMS was the one I was talking about.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is that a subset or a subsystem of network management?

MR. TREMBLAY:  It's -- think of it as a subset for -- as an operating tool.  They are two different systems, but they are both used from an operating perspective.

MR. FAYE:  So the improvements from the network management system, you haven't realized them yet either, have you?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  A lot of the improvements that we are talking about here on the NMS, the existing NMS, the primary function of course is to monitor and control the power system on a real-time basis, in essence, to ensure that we can operate the system safely, reliably, keep the lights on, if you will.

We are now looking with that system, with some of the new tools that potentially are available, to introduce enhancements that will drive efficiencies for our control room that can better integrate with our work program, provide improved situational awareness of the operator in terms of responding to events.  And we do believe we will see some savings that we can apply to our work programs once they are implemented.

MR. FAYE:  And do you think you would see those during the test years?

MR. TREMBLAY:  We are hoping to see some of them.  There is a number of enhancements that we are looking at putting in that will provide some improvement, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Would that be part of the 1 million per year that you estimated for the gains in efficiency from NOMS, or is that another improvement?

MR. TREMBLAY:  That one would be in addition.  It would be incremental over the NOMS.

MR. FAYE:  And do you have a guess on how much you think you are going to get there?

MR. MARCELLO:  I gauge from your questions you are trying to itemize all the savings, so maybe I can refer you to a couple of IRs that pulls it all together.

MR. FAYE:  Sure.  Please do.

MR. MARCELLO:  If that's helpful.  So if we go back to A-14-1, you have covered off pages 2 and 3.  And, as you have pointed out, they are largely ongoing, with some element of a twist in a couple of other examples.

On page 4, starting at line 11, we have a host of other initiatives that I would characterize as new, strategic sourcing, supply chain management, telemeter expansion program, telecom wide area network, OGCC and other support tools.

So that was the main evidence.  Subsequent IRs asked to expand on some of these things.  I will refer us to tab 10, schedule 3 -- sorry, Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 3.  It tries to break out some of the savings in a few areas.

Trades and training program, I notice there is, I think, the answer to the undertaking around fleet, around which elements are warranty, which elements are fuel discounts.  And they break out the savings that are expected in the rate filing period.

And, again, it gives a more fulsome explanation of the vehicle standardization program; again, looking at these elements, many examples of many things in the many hundreds of thousands of dollars range.

The last item, the strategic sourcing one, is one that has received a great deal of profile, again, in those board memos, as well, because of the sheer magnitude of the savings, the concept there, going back to having executed a major work program, having to secure transformers, in particular, and breakers on an ongoing long-term basis, being able to forecast for that, being able to standardize the number of devices.

In transformers, we have gone down to 14 standards from well over 100.  You will see the cost savings that are spelled out in the work program, and these savings are embedded.  And, again, these ones are in the $13 million, $15 million and $16 million ranges.

One other area of note would be -- well, I think I have answered your question.  I will let you --

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Let me just follow up on that.  And I think your first reference was to I-10-3; interrogatory I-10-3.  And this one talks about the trades training program.  Just so that I understand the efficiencies here, there is efficiencies attributable to computer-based training as opposed to instructor-led training.

So do I take it that apprentices would sit down at a computer terminal and have some sort of video play them how to fix something?  Is that the sort of thing I am looking at there?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Well, it would be a combination.  They would sit down at a computer terminal.  They would pull up learning modules, and it would be a series of interactive learning modules they go through.  There may -- in some cases, there will be videos playing, but there will be questions that they will have to answer as they go through the learning module.

MR. FAYE:  So they would read some material on screen, and then there would be a bit of a test?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  If I remember correctly, in the '80s there was a series of binders that did exactly that.  Am I remembering that correctly?  There were trades practices binders, and you would go through a section, read it, and then you would answer some questions.  So would you characterize this as a new initiative, or is it just a conversion from paper to electronic?

MR. TREMBLAY:  I guess it's more of a conversion, as you said, from paper to electronic and taking advantage of those benefits.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the same would be true, I think, would it, of the mobile learning?  Instead of opening a binder, you open a computer?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next section on that IR, fleet management, this warranty coordinator position, how much does that cost per year; that is, the fully burdened cost of that employee?

MR. MARCELLO:  I wouldn't know the cost of the coordinator, but the program pulls out a savings of 200,000, so...

MR. FAYE:  What level is the job, warranty coordinator?

MR. MARCELLO:  I don't know.  I can undertake to get that as part of the previous undertaking, if you like.

MR. FAYE:  Perhaps you could add that.  I don't care what the job classification is, but what's the fully burdened cost of that position?  And obviously I want to compare it to the $200,000 in savings.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And then fuel discounts, that's bulk purchasing, and we talked about that being an ongoing initiative.  Is this $300,000 here a discount that you never got before?

MR. MARCELLO:  It's 2010 savings based on the negotiated contract.

MR. FAYE:  And that would be savings over what?

MR. MARCELLO:  Over what the 2010 number would have been had there not been a negotiated contract.  I am sorry, I don't understand the question.

MR. FAYE:  I am sorry.  Go ahead?

MR. MARCELLO:  Sorry, I guess I didn't understand your question.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, let me restate it.  The contract in 2010 is going to save you 300,000, and I am wondering:  What did you do before you negotiated contracts?  Why would the previous method have resulted in a $300,000 higher cost?

MR. MARCELLO:  I don't have that level of detail.

MR. FAYE:  Could you undertake to give us an explanation of that?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We do seem to be getting to a level of granularity that is pretty -- starting to be of concern.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair, I fully appreciate that.  And I hadn't intended to get to that granularity until the witness took me to this particular IR, and I don't think there is anything else in here that is going to add a great deal to the Board's understanding, so I am going the leave that whole subject.

MS. LEA:  So do we still wish the undertaking?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I would like to see the undertaking, just so I have a grasp of the quantifying of the benefits here.

MS. LEA:  J4.2.

MR. ROGERS:  I was going to suggest if you want all these -- I mean, you tie in the one exhibit, I will do that.  But I am quite content to put them all into one undertaking.

MR. FAYE:  That would be fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't -- perhaps at the break we can ensure that we have captured this area and perhaps one undertaking may be able to do it.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE:  That is, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  The last couple of questions have to do with Board Staff IRs, and the first one is Board Staff 39, I-1-39.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, I have got it.

MR. FAYE:  This one talks about the PCB program and your application to Environment Canada for some relief from the deadlines that have been imposed by regulation.

The only thing I wanted to ask you here was we spoke the other day with panel 1 about an incident at Manby, where a circuit breaker caught fire, exploded, and I wonder if you had any fallout from that circuit breaker, which presumably had probably chloro -- PCBs in them.

MR. SPENCER:  I believe it was in the order of six to seven parts per million, which would be typical of the oil circuit breaker.

MR. FAYE:  So it wasn't in the 500 parts per million that the bushings have?

MR. SPENCER:  No, I don't think so.

MR. FAYE:  But there bushings on that circuit breaker?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  So was there any reaction from Environment Canada to the fact there may have been a release of PCBs or, you know, the products of combustion of PCBs?

MR. SPENCER:  Let me attempt to clarify.

We have a spill response program, which is through the Ministry of Environment, provincially, and part of that spill response is indicating the volume of oil which was -- hit the natural environment and the PCB concentration.

This particular event did not gain any interest from Environment Canada.  That type of issue is typically handled by the Ministry of Environment.  They were entirely satisfied with our spill response and our cleanup of the environmental impacts following the breaker failure event.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So there would be no impact, you think, on your efforts to get an extension of your deadlines?  This particular incident is not going to impact that negatively or positively?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can I take you, lastly, then, to Board Staff No. 40, I, tab 1 schedule 40?

At the bottom of that page, the response mentions additional maintenance on batteries and chargers supplying DC to critical telecom loads.

And my question is:  Does Hydro One operate a competitive telecom business?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe we do, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And does that -- do the facilities that are spoken of here contribute to the maintenance of that business?  Your telecom circuits for competitive use run through that battery system and other station components?

MR. MARCELLO:  These batteries and these systems are power system assets.  They are to secure a safe, reliable telecom infrastructure associated with the power system.

MR. FAYE:  So any competitive telecom business would not be physically connected to these facilities?

MR. MARCELLO:  My understanding of the telecom business is it uses the bandwidth that is not used by the transmission, or distribution, for that matter, system.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then there would be some sort of cost allocation for maintaining these batteries; part of that cost would be picked up by the telecom business?

MR. TREMBLAY:  If I may, the batteries and chargers that are discussed here are actually located at our transformer stations, and there is no sharing with the competitive side of the telecom network.  They are used exclusively for power systems.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thank you, panel.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

We will take our morning break.  We'll rise for 15 minutes and come back at ten after 11:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:17 a.m.
Procedural Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Sir, before we begin, can I just advise the Board that we have now filed another undertaking, J3.2.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I don't think the Panel has that, but I am sure Staff will get it to us in due course.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  It just deals with a direction that the government gave to the company, which is not part of the rate case.  I don't think it has anything to do with the rate case, but there it is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson, are you next?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't know that I am, but I am happy to go.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Chairman, I have distributed a bundle of three documents that I am going to refer to in this examination, and I hope that they have arrived, or, if they haven't arrived, if the Board Staff could hand them up.

These are -- the three documents are, firstly, an interrogatory response to a PW interrogatory.  Secondly, there is an excerpt from the prefiled evidence, so all of this is already in the record.  This is simply to facilitate cross-examination.

And the third document is simply an excerpt from the transcript of the last Hydro One hearing.  So it's already in the public record.  Nothing here is new.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's very helpful.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  Mr. Stephenson, do we need exhibit numbers?  I don't think we do for the interrogatory and the prefiled evidence that's already in this record.  Perhaps we should assign one to the transcript from last year's hearing, because it's not part of this record.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think that would be useful.

MS. LEA:  All right, then.  K4.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  EXCERPT FROM FEBRUARY 24, 2009 HYDRO ONE HEARING.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  The first thing I wanted to do is to follow up on an issue that -- a question, an exchange I had with the panel yesterday.  And to assist you, I have provided a copy of a transcript excerpt from the last Hydro One rates case, and this is from February 24, 2009.

And just to assist your understanding, the issue that I was dealing with yesterday was some -- the content of the 2009-2011 Hydro One business plan which was, at the time, the most current document.  And I was asking Mr. Gregg about that document and he simply didn't recollect.

And so I am just showing you this to hopefully assist in your recollection, and the reason I am showing you this is because I can't show you the actual business plan, because it was a confidential document, which I don't have anymore.

However, this part of it got read into the transcript, and the issue pertains to the question of sustaining investment and the company's assessment of the impact of its planned investment as contained in the business plan.

If I can just get you to turn up page 107 of the transcript, you will see I am cross-examining Mr. Graham there.  You know who Mr. Graham is, I take it?

MR. MARCELLO:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you will see I am asking him to identify it's an executive summary to the 2009-2011 Hydro One business plan.  That is at line 19.  You see that?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And if you go over the page on to page 108, there is an indented portion there.  My question starts at line 12, and I take him to page 1 of the document under the heading "Key Highlights", the third bullet point, which reads as follows:
"As a result of transmission development requirements and limitations on resources, some sustainment work has been deferred, increasing risks to reliability and customer satisfaction in the short and medium term.  Addressing this risk will be a key focus of the ten-year transmission plan."


Stopping there, do you see that?

MR. MARCELLO:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I take it you don't have any quarrel with me that this is, in fact, what the 2009-2011 Hydro One business plan said?

MR. MARCELLO:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it you don't have any dispute with me that that was, in fact, Hydro One's best information as it stood as of that date; fair?

MR. MARCELLO:  Fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you will see at the top of the page -- on page 108, you will see that Mr. Graham agrees with me that it continues - that is, as of February 2009 - to be an accurate reflection of Hydro One's business plan.  Do you see that right at the top of page 108?

MR. MARCELLO:  I see him answering your question saying, "Yes, it does."

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And just to confirm what I think Mr. Gregg told me yesterday, as a result of the Board decision in your last rates case, there was a cut to your sustaining budget to the tune of about $15 million per year, if I recollect that; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And, in fact, you reduced your spending from budget by more or less that amount; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so if we were looking at the risk identified by your board regarding reliability risk, as a consequence of the revised work plan, the risk, the reliability risk which was in fact incurred as a result of that work plan, was in fact even more than had initially been identified; correct?  Directionally it was greater risk?

MR. MARCELLO:  I am not following your question.  I apologize.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Spending down, risk up; fair?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think that's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that's, in fact, what happened; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, I think Mr. Faye reviewed with you this morning that for the purposes of the current application, and I am not sure I got this perfectly, but you have more or less held the line with respect to your -- what you actually spent in '09 and '10; am I right about that?

MR. MARCELLO:  That was a specific question of Mr. Spencer on a specific investment area.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  In fact, you have increased in a number of areas; is that correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, all right.  I now want to deal with the issue of your asset condition and asset demographics as it pertains to sustainment spending, and I have given to you two documents.  The first is an excerpt out of the prefiled evidence, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix A.  Have you got that?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And obviously I invite you to look at the whole document.  I am sure you are familiar with it, in any event. The second -- sorry, before I move on.  And you will see in this excerpt that what you are dealing with here are -- there is a series of tables that set out the demographics of various identified groups of components; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Agreed, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are familiar with all of that; is that fair?

MR. SPENCER:  We are, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then the second document I have given to you is your response to PW Interrogatory No. 8, so that's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 8.  Have you got that?

MR. SPENCER:  We do, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that interrogatory asked you to provide your forecast with respect to the demographics of your major asset categories if your current work program was, in fact, taken -- implemented over the next five years; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Agreed, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you provided answers, right?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I just want to review those with you, but the first thing I wanted to do, actually, was in appendix A to that interrogatory response, which is at the back, you provided some updated wood pole structure age demographics.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that's table 24; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  I agree, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that is an update from a table which was contained in the prefiled evidence, and that's in the other bundle, and I think it's at page 110.

MR. SPENCER:  Are you going to be referencing both tables?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, I am, and you sort of need them together.  That's why I have the two bundles. And unfortunately, this particular page -- it drives me crazy, but only every other page was numbered, and this happens to be on an unnumbered page, but it's the page between 109 and 111.

MR. SPENCER:  We will call it 110.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Inductive reasoning.  All right.

And am I right that table 24 in the interrogatory response is an update to table 24 on page 110?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, what I wanted to confirm with you is this update is not an update which reflects simply a change in demographics over time; this is, in fact, a correction?  Am I right about that?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe that's accurate, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So just to be clear, in your prefiled evidence for poles greater than 50 years, you had listed more than 25,000.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then in the update, you have listed them at 7,000 more, give or take?

MR. SPENCER:  Agreed, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that's not because you've taken out of service 18,000 poles in the interim?

MR. SPENCER:  No, it not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So I can ignore the table 24 at page 100; is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  We should -- we should focus on the table provided in the interrogatory.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  All right.  Now, let me just go through these, more or less one-by-one --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson, just before we get too far, just to correct the reference for the transcript, I think you referred to page 100 and I think you mean page 110; is that right?

MR. STEPHENSON:  You are absolutely right.  Sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just give me one moment, please.

I want to focus, in these asset groups or categories, on the oldest assets.  I mean, I take it as a general matter -- I am sure there are some exceptions -- assets which are relatively new are more or less problem-free, or at least that's your expectation; fair?

MR. SPENCER:  We hope so, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So, if I look at -- let's start at the wood pole structures, and just to be clear about this for -- we are talking here not about distribution poles, of which there are many hundreds of thousands, we are talking here about wood transmission poles, of which there are 41,000?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, with a slight adjustment.  These are, in fact, wood structures, not just simply a pole.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough, yes.  They are bigger than a pole?  They are bigger than the things you see driving down a country road?

MR. SPENCER:  Agreed, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And if I take you to the interrogatory response and I compare it to appendix A, that's the relative, relevant comparison.

As I see it, at the end of five years, your -- on the wood pole -- or on the wood structures, in the two oldest asset categories, you're -- with respect to the 40-to-50-years, you're doing better, right?

The number is getting smaller five years hence; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Agreed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that's a good thing?

MR. SPENCER:  We feel so, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And with respect to the oldest category, over-50-years, it's also going down, and that's a good thing, right?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But not by much; correct?

In fact, you have still got 25 percent of your assets -– actually, it's 27 percent of your assets over 40 years old, right?

MR. JUHN:  That is the 41-to-50 plus the 50 total.  Yes, that would be 27 percent.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  So let me move to the next one, which is the underground cable, and that's table 2, and that appears, the original I think appears at page 111.  Am I right about that?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, you are correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you, if we look at the over-40-year category, presently that's 22 percent; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, over 40, 22 percent, correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And if we stay with the over 40 and we go to the situation five years hence, it's worse, right?  It's 22.6 percent?

MR. SPENCER:  Arguably not much of a difference, but yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, you are not making any progress and you are going in the wrong direction; correct?

MR. JUHN:  If I can just add in terms of the underground cables, the replacement is based on the condition of the cables and we do have an asset condition assessment process in place, so in terms of, I guess, going in the wrong direction, I think you maybe miss -- I guess not necessarily accurately describing the situation from our point of view.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I accept that for every single one of these asset categories, you have an asset condition assessment process in place, and you do a variety of things, a variety of inspections and whatnot.

But Mr. Gregg agreed with me yesterday that your demographics are a very important -- are an important metric and are a good proxy for asset condition.

You don't disagree with that?

MR. SPENCER:  Demographics would tend towards a proxy for condition, not necessarily vice versa.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  Let me then go to the over-50-years.  Presently, you have got it's 17.8 percent; correct?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And five years hence, 25 percent?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And five years hence, 25 percent?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, 24.9.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  That's a bad thing, right, a bad direction?

MR. JUHN:  It shows that our assets are aging, and at this particular point in time we do not believe, in terms of replacement, that there are any replacements required based on -- based on this information and based on the information we have at hand currently.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Let me go to overhead conductor, which is table 3 of the interrogatory response and at page 109 of the prefiled evidence.  Those are the two comparative charts; correct?

MR. JUHN:  Just give me one second.  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Over 50 years, we have got presently 14,800, roughly, and over 50 years, five years hence, 16,000?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's a bad thing, from a directional perspective?  The chances that your assets are getting better when that occurs is very low?

MR. JUHN:  I think the term "it's a bad thing" is not necessarily the way to characterize it.  Our assets are aging.  Yes, they will require replacement in time.  What actually we have done is provided some indication on expected life in Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1.  So in terms of, yes, we anticipate that these assets are going to require increased work down the road, but to characterize it as a bad thing is not necessarily the way that we would look at it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, just a moment.  I mean, you don't have an expected life beyond 50 years on these assets.  Some of them do in fact last more than 50 years.  We know that as a matter of fact.  But you don't have charts where you have got expected lives for these assets stretching out 70 or 80 years.  You don't even have data.  You are not reporting data on those numbers.

Like, 50 years is your -- is more or less the end of the line; isn't it?

MR. JUHN:  The line is -- a transmission line is made up -- and I will just elaborate a bit in terms of how we characterize and how we determine the end of life on a transmission line.

A transmission line is made up of various components.  You have the conductor.  You have the wood pole structures.  You have the insulators, and also the steel towers.  Those are the primary components.

Each of those components do have a different life span, and that is factored into our ACA program.  So to characterize I think from the conductor point of view, we have conductor that's been in service for 70 years or so in pristine environments that isn't giving us any problems, but we have conductor - and one of the projects in here is for replacement of that conductor - that's been in service for about -- in northern Ontario, about 80 years, and we are planning to replace that.

So in terms of using -- you can use a range, and, depending on the condition of the particular and the environment that those lines are subject, probably the end of life would probably fall into that range.  So using one number of 50 years is not the way to look at it, from our perspective.  It's more of a range.

Wood poles, obviously they deteriorate a lot quicker than the aluminum with steel-reinforced conductor.  So I just wanted to make sure that everybody understands that point.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  I understand that it's more complicated, the demographic, but you bundled, for the purpose of reporting to this Board, more than half of your total assets under one group, 50 years and up.

I mean, aren't you telling the Board that -- when you are reporting it that way, that for these purposes, that is -- that's the end of the line?  I mean, why is there ten-year gradations for everything else, and then at 50 it's just, Sorry, that's all there is?

MR. JUHN:  In terms of the collecting information, that was the way it was presented.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It is what it is.  You don't have any explanation, all right.

Let's go to the next one.

MR. JUHN:  I can elaborate a bit on -- we did provide additional evidence in terms of expected life.  The additional evidence is in Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, and if you are looking at line assets, we are looking at overhead conductors.  Our average estimated expected end of life is 60 to 120 years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  I just want to come and circle back around to this issue about age for a moment.  You, as a company, are relying on the fact that you have an aging asset base to justify to this Board increased request for expenditures; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  It's one of the reasons, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It's an important reason.  It's right in the first paragraph, I think, isn't it?

MR. SPENCER:  Agreed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it's in every board memo that you have this aging asset base; right?

MR. SPENCER:  It's a significant issue for us, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So me looking at age is not -- I am not the only one doing this; right?  This isn't just some Stephenson peccadillo.

MR. SPENCER:  No, you are quite accurate.  When we talk about an aging demographic, though, it is not just the quantifiable age of an asset when it went in service.  There are other effects that we attribute to an aging infrastructure.

MR. SPENCER:  I understand, but it's important enough that it's in the first paragraph of every board memo; fair?  I could be wrong.  I think it's in the first paragraph of your application, so it's important.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, it is a very important piece of information for us.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, I don't want to beat this to death, but would you be surprised if I told you that there are some asset categories you have where most of your assets are relatively new, and so, frankly, this issue isn't -- you know, the SF6 circuit breakers, for example, most of your assets are less than 20 years old.

But for a lot of your assets, most of your assets are in the oldest age category, and in most of those cases the demographic at the end of five years is worse than it is today.  You are not surprised if I tell you that; right?

MR. SPENCER:  No, you are correct.  Our assets are aging.  We have put forward what we feel are appropriate capital replacement plans, but the assets continue to age.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But the board in its last business plan said, We have deferred some sustainment costs, and that has the result, in the immediate year, of increasing reliability risk; right?  This is not -- not only is this a problem of shuffling things off into the distant future.  There is immediate reliability risk correlation by deferring work; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  I would argue there is some latency in between deterring a capital investment and the degradation and reliability.  But that causal relationship does exist, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now -- and I wouldn't be asking you this if you didn't have an aging system, self proclaimed, but why isn't it reasonable for the Board to expect, on your proposal, that you are going to undertake a work plan that at least keeps your demographics no worse than they stand today?

Why isn't that a reasonable thing for the Board to demand?

MR. JUHN:  I guess if I can comment on that, in terms of managing assets, to say that the current -- the optimal management or life of those assets is at its -- is where they are today on an average is presuming that we cannot capture additional life out of those particular assets that we have in service.

And we believe that, as I pointed out with conductor 
-- and there are a number of other areas, but there are areas where we definitely have to do additional work, as we have provided in our capital sustaining programs.  There are areas where we believe, such as the underground cables, et cetera -- we have one project, but other cables, as such, still have substantial life in those.

And where we are currently is we are still -- in terms of the optimal management of our assets, we are still in a state where I believe our assets are going to age.  They are going to age slowly.  They are going to age less the amount that we remove from the system the older ones, but they are still aging and we believe that that is the prudent and appropriate way to manage our asset base.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Isn't there a serious risk -- I mean, one of the things that has been identified in the past is about your capacity to do a certain amount of work within a prescribed period of time.  And I think the Board -- or I think the panels have acknowledged that there are limitations on your capacity to undertake beyond a certain amount of work within a particular period of time; fair?

I mean, you have constraints in terms of people and equipment and components and so forth; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think panel 1 has expanded on that.  There are constraints; we have put plans in place to deal with them.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, but I mean there are going to be literally -- you know, there are constraints.  No matter what you do, you are going to be faced with constraints; fair?

MR. MARCELLO:  Absolutely.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Isn't there a real risk that if you don't get on this issue now, that you are going to be hitting a wall?  In other words, you have got 206 power transformers that are over 50 years old.  There are only so many you can replace in a year.

You are going to be hitting a wall, where stuff is going to be breaking faster than you can fix it; isn't that the reality?

MR. MARCELLO:  If we didn't keep on eye on the ongoing age, ongoing condition, ongoing performance of the assets, and ignored it, yeah, it's a risk.

However, what we have here is an understanding that we have an aging plant that's going to have ever-increasing financial requirements to either maintain or replace, and finding that balance between what's the optimal level -- optimal is, again, aspirational –- is really what asset management as a function is all about.

So at this point in time today, looking forward, do I anticipate -- and we have had discussions around what does the world look like 10 years from now, and I won't get into specific numbers -- there is going to be a need to replace assets.  There is going to be a need to expand our transmission system.  We all acknowledge that.

So what do we do about it?  One of the things is further the state of the art in terms of diagnostics.  We know a lot more today about an end-of-life transformer than we did 20 years ago.

Twenty years ago, you would look at it.  Is it leaking oil?  Is it rusty?  Is it having failures?  There is a problem.

Today we spend a lot of time and effort analyzing the components of dissolved gasses within that oil.  That gives us a better indication of:  Is it at end-of-life?

So while the fleet may be older, I agree, and while there are a lot more transformers in the 50-year range, you will also notice there is an increased spend to specifically deal with end-of-life transformers, end-of-life within the foreseeable time frame.

Those are baked in.  It wasn't:  Let's come up with an investment plan that hits that optimal point, just so I can have a younger fleet five years from now.

So there is that balance and that risk.

I do want to point out something that's in one of the IR -– I, tab 3, schedule 1.  It's a CME interrogatory, and it asks for our submission to our board of directors, basically the approval for this plan going before you.

And I know panel 1 spent a great deal of time on the history that took us to that point.  But on the last page of that memo, and I am going to quote -- we made some OM&A reductions.  Panel 1 is on the record as saying that.

And I just want to quote the statement here because I think it's relevant and germane:

"Approximately $12 million of OM&A reductions related to project and program deferrals.  A risk-based assessment of the transmission system at this reduced OM&A level was carried out.  The assessment took into account the following: asset condition, safety, performance, system function, customer impact, statutory requirements."

And it's the last point that I think is key, and it's the point that our board focussed on as well, and I think it's germane to the whole argument:

"It was concluded that while individual assets may face increased risks in the short term, the overall system impact is minimal with safety and reliability remaining at current levels."

So the plan that's in front of this Board has taken into account all of those aspects and tried to balance it in a prudent fashion.

I think that is the fundamental point of our request to this Board, this Panel.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Let me just follow up on that.

We know there was an application to this Board for rates based upon a business plan, and it was in the can.  That application was virtually finalized, and it was not filed at the last minute.  We have heard that evidence.

And I assume that the board and management did its due diligence to ensure that the work plan that was embedded in that rate application was just and reasonable and prudent, no more than necessary, no less than necessary, and so forth.  I mean that's all true, isn't it?

I mean, you had absolutely satisfied yourself that this was a plan you could go forward with and support and defend at the Board, right?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then it gets pulled, and your OM&A gets reduced, right?

MR. MARCELLO:  To say our OM&A gets reduced --

MR. STEPHENSON:  By you?

MR. MARCELLO:  -- implies –- okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  By you?

MR. MARCELLO:  By me.

We took a look at the short-term impact and individual asset risks.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.

MR. MARCELLO:  And to you point, the reduced OM&A means increased risk.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So which of the two applications is wrong, the first one or the second one?

MR. MARCELLO:  Neither are wrong.  They are both within a context of risk.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the risk is -- the bottom line with sustainment is it's easy to cut.  It's easy to cut because it doesn't show up right away.  It's a big system, and it's death by 1,000 cuts and this is just one cut.

That's what's going on, isn't it?

MR. MARCELLO:  We have aging infrastructure.  We have looked at all of the assets.  We have looked at the level of reliability in the service we provide.

And the plan that's before us is a plan that the company stands behind, in terms of being able to sustain and operate our power system, the power system, at the current level for the current time period.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Here is my question, then:  We know that this cut was done by virtue of a concern, being responsive to a concern regarding rate impact; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That was a factor, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the response was to defer work, largely; correct?  Out of the rate period, into some later period?

MR. MARCELLO:  Within the discussion of sustainment?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  Frankly, it's also true of development, but certainly of sustainment.

MR. MARCELLO:  I was just going to say development, I don't want to get into a discussion that's already been covered.  That's all I –- okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. MARCELLO:  Sustainment, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  On what basis -- what is the basis for the assumption that the period that we are sustaining this expense to, the future period, is going to have any less rate sensitivity than the current period?  Why would -- what's the basis for that assumption?

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I am not sure that these witnesses can answer that question.  You know, they have tried to explain to you why they have done what they have done.  They have reduced their sustainment budget for the reasons that have been explained.  They have acknowledged that there is some increased risk, but they think it's tolerable and prudent to do what they have suggested.

Now, these aren't the men who decided what the future rate impacts are going to be.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I take your point, Mr. Rogers.

I think you have made your point from the standpoint of preparing your argument, Mr. Stephenson.  But I am not going to stop this line of questioning, but I think Mr. Rogers' observation that your question becomes sort of rhetorical in connection with this particular panel...

And they may not -- you may have to simply agree to disagree with the panel, and address the subject in argument.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough, fair enough.  Let me ask a very specific question about the reduction in sustainment.  Do you know the process by which the projects and the dollars that were earmarked for deferral?  Was that a top-down process or a bottom-up process?  You know what I mean?

Did somebody come to you and say, We need $20 million a year; go find it?

MR. MARCELLO:  No one came to us and suggested -- no one came to me and suggested, You need to cut by any amount.  What happened was -- and Mr. Juhn will go through the IR line by line, which spells out where the cuts were made and the reasons why.

So it was a review of the plan and the risks from a bottom-up perspective, and then taken to our board.  And I have already read to you the salient points around the sustainment cut.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't need to go -- I appreciate -- so it's bottom-up.  And so there was no target, in terms of dollars, that was sought to be achieved out of the sustainment budget; am I right about that?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, you are.  No one came to me and requested a specific amount of any kind.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am going to move to a completely different subject.  Can I ask you to turn up Exhibit K2.1?  And I have called it part 2.  This is the redacted November 11th, 2009 document, which is the budget and outlook.  Have you got that?

MR. MARCELLO:  What would be the date, sorry?  Just I know the --

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, the document is dated November 11th, 2009.  The subject is Hydro One Inc. 2010 budget and 2011/2012 outlook.

MR. MARCELLO:  I have the unredacted version, but that's fine.

MR. STEPHENSON:  For these purposes, it doesn't matter.  It's a portion that wasn't redacted.  And I just want you to turn up page 27 of the PowerPoints that are at the back.  Have you got that?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, we do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So there are two slides here.  The one on the left deals with, as I understand it, productivity, and the one on the right is reliability; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And it's the one on the left I want to ask you about because, as I understand it, this is a productivity measure reflected here which is relatively new to the company in terms of tracking; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it from the prefiled evidence, you started to report on this in 2009?

MR. MARCELLO:  Sounds right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The question I have for you is -- I don't understand the chart.

MR. MARCELLO:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't understand what the -- what's the numerator and what's the denominator, and if I was going to calculate this, what are the inputs, because it's -- I see that Hydro One is at 6 percent, but I have no idea -- 6 percent of what?  And it may just be me, I confess.

MR. MARCELLO:  I think there are a few things in terms of context that might be helpful, and then I will see if I can directly answer your question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure.

MR. MARCELLO:  And, again, in all these series of board memos, you will notice there are scorecards and performance targets, one of which is a productivity number.  It is a relatively new measure.  In working with the Canadian Electric Association, we have been doing a lot of effort over the years in terms of benchmarking.

The quality and the state of the art in benchmarking, when it comes to reliability metrics or safety metrics, is well known and entrenched.  The definition of the metrics are understood in terms of what goes into calculating it.  There are variations across companies.

One of the things that Hydro One and the member CEA companies were looking for is a way of comparing -- I will use the term productivity.  So this would be a first-generation attempt at that.

The chart itself, when you are asking -- you didn't understand what the chart means.  Part of the mode of operating within the CEA is that all their data is confidential.  I am not allowed to have access to my peers' data.  They are not allowed to have access to mine, and we are not allowed to share it.  So what you have here --

MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand.  But the one thing I do understand about the chart is the numbers at the bottom are simply codes for different companies.

MR. MARCELLO:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That is the one thing I understood.

MR. MARCELLO:  So, again, this was trying to reflect:  What do those relative performances look like?  If we go to OEB interrogatory -- so I, tab 1, schedule 3, there is an attempt to explain some of the measures that go into this metric.

MR. ROGERS:  Who is waiting for whom here?

MR. MARCELLO:  Sorry.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry, I was waiting for the witness.

MR. MARCELLO:  I apologize.  I was just referring you to the reference that had the formula.  So the measure is OM&A costs plus capital over gross fixed assets.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And are you able to provide -- and so when you do that calculation, you put those inputs in, you get 6 percent?  I take it that's what this chart is telling me.

MR. MARCELLO:  On the next page, I think it shows something in that area, yes.  It's slightly above six.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, is this -- I take it through the CEA, you have got some kind of report that tells you where this chart comes from?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's a fair assumption.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I would ask you to produce a copy of that.

MR. MARCELLO:  I haven't seen one, so if it exists, I am...

MR. STEPHENSON:  It must exist.  You just told me it came from it.

MR. MARCELLO:  You say it's a report.  It could be an analysis.  I don't know, I guess, is what I am suggesting.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I will take the same position here as I have taken previously.  These requests in the middle of the hearing are difficult to deal with.  I don't know whether anything exists or not.  I can look and see, but it would be -- I respectfully ask the Board to recall your interrogatory process.

It's much easier for the company to deal with it through an interrogatory than it is in the middle of a hearing.

MR. STEPHENSON:  With all due respect, Mr. Rogers, I didn't get -- this is an interrogatory response that we are dealing with now.  I didn't have the interrogatory response when I made my interrogatory.

MR. ROGERS:  Well --

MR. STEPHENSON:  I couldn't have asked for it.  I didn't know it existed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think if the report exists, or whatever format the report exists, that led to the production of the graphs, I think that's a fair request.  And there may be issues with respect to some undertakings made by the company in association with the benchmarking study, and I expect you will -- you will condition your release of the material accordingly.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  If there is a report, I'm sure it is.  And thank you, and I will.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I fully understand that, and my request anticipates all of that and I have no difficulty with any of it.

MS. LEA:  So that would be Undertaking J4.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER GRAPHS WERE PREPARED ON THE BASIS OF A REPORT OR ANALYSIS.

MS. LEA:  And I gather that there is some conditions on production relating to the company's undertakings with respect to its use of this material?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  I will advise the Board when I find out what this is, what confidentiality concerns I have, and request the appropriate condition.

MR. STEPHENSON:  If any?

MR. ROGERS:  If any.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And just lastly on this issue, this is the -- I take it, as reflected at page 27, the slide there, do we know what year that is in relation to?  I assume it is in relation to the most current year?

MR. MARCELLO:  Sorry, I may have misspoke.

That's a three-year average.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I see.

MR. MARCELLO:  The IR was talking about how do you actually calculate the metric.

So if you look at page 27, three-year average, 26 -- sorry 2006 to 2008.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I looking at -- sorry, what I am looking at here, '06 to '08, I have got 6.1, 7.7, 8.6.  Am I right about that?

I just don't see how that averages down to six.

MR. MARCELLO:  Nor do I.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that not an input to the calculation, not the result of it, unit cost as opposed to the -- or am I looking at something different here?

There is 6.1, 7.7 and 8.6.  Is that what you referred to?  Maybe I'm -– I'm looking at what we've got up on the screen here.  That is just an input to the calculation, I believe, that -- which is shown in the graph.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The nominator, in effect, or an input?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we are looking at different numbers there.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I could be wrong about that, but in the response, I thought –- sorry, I am the guy that doesn't understand the chart, so I don't claim to know, but I thought the chart was showing -- that was the very thing the chart was showing, was transmission unit cost.

MR. ROGERS:  I'd ask, Mr. Chairman, if anybody on the panel could help us with this.  If not, perhaps we can give an undertaking to explain this.

MR. MARCELLO:  I can't figure out why the math worked that way.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You do know this much, right, that under the heading of the response, there's a formula; transmission unit cost equals the dividend of that calculation?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that's what's supposed to be reflected on the chart; correct?  On page 27, the transmission unit cost?

MR. MARCELLO:  A three-year average of, yeah.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I see your point.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So we have an undertaking?  You'll try to figure it out?

MS. LEA:  That will be J4.3.  Thank you.  4.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3:  TO EXPLAIN FIGURES ON CHART


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, panel.  You have been very helpful.  I appreciate it.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

It was our hope to finish this panel this morning.  Does that continue to be a realistic hope?

Mr. Thompson, do you have questions for this panel?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, sir.  Probably half an hour.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I am doing a little bit on behalf of Mr. Shepherd, plus my own.  And I think it's around half an hour.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  No, I do not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So it looks like we will have to come back briefly after the lunch break with this panel, and then continue with panel 3 thereafter.

Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break -- we will break when you are finished.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAFURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am asking questions on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition, but I am going to start by asking a couple of follow-up questions on behalf of Mr. Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.  He asked some question on panel 1 that were deferred to this panel.

And specifically -- and it continues on with the issue of benchmarking.  With respect to panel 1, he asked some questions, and I'll give you the transcript reference; it was transcript page number 23.

He started to ask the panel questions about the performance benchmarking that the company does and sends to the province as part of the Memorandum of Agreement between the shareholder and Hydro One.

Do you -- do you know what I am talking about?

MR. MARCELLO:  I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And he started to ask some questions.  I think he was punted to this panel on the benchmarking.

So one of the things he wanted to know was how the benchmarking was done, i.e., was it done internally?  Was it down through an outside firm?  Basically, whatever information you can give us in terms of how that benchmarking was done, and then presented to the province.

MR. MARCELLO:  So in terms of the Memorandum of Understanding, it touched on some specific areas, and I will talk to the operational ones.  And if -- well, seeing my package is already open to page 25 of the item we were just looking at, there is a corporate scorecard on that.  I am not sure if you see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just for the record. I think that's K --

MR. MARCELLO:  Page 25 of the material associated with KX1.3, which is the November 11th, 2009 board memo presentation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you can also use K2.1, which is the redacted version.

MR. MARCELLO:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think we're going to get into redactions.

MR. MARCELLO:  I am not going to talk to numbers specifically, so --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. MARCELLO:  That's our corporate scorecard; that's also the basis of conversations with our shareholder.  I believe there was an IR on that.

So I will just talk to the scorecard strategic objectives and performance measures.

Within the context of operational measures, I would include things such as the lost time injuries and the reliability of the transmission system.  So in those specific areas, we set our benchmarks based on the discussions with the Canadian Electric Association.

Largely, it's the transmission members, so the CEA as an organization has membership of transmitters, distributors and generators, amongst others, but largely the subset that we would benchmark against would be transmitters.  And I am not claiming this is comprehensive; it's more illustrative.

BC Hydro, Manitoba Hydro, SaskPower, New Brunswick Power, and Hydro Quebec Distribution is a member, but not with respect to the transmission part of it.

So injury-free workplace, transmission frequency of customer unplanned interruptions and the duration of those customer interruptions would be areas where we are benchmarked with that CEA cohort.

In the areas of -- I believe the other area was a financial one.  With respect to benchmarks, other than this transmission unit cost discussion we just had a moment ago, the items under "shareholder value" you will see credit rating, net income.  I don't know of any benchmarking we do just on the basis of a net income, but the transmission unit cost would be one that falls within the financial.

The third area of the Memo of Understanding, our agreement with the province, talked about tracking specific projects.  And on the scorecard, you will notice that there is a section called:  "Major Green projects and Bruce-to-Milton."

That's an area where we track -- there are no benchmarks.  That's basically how are we progressing in the execution of the projects, and there is no industry benchmark that we know of.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

So I mean, just in the language of the memorandum, I think the three areas you are talking about are operating results, financial results and new project execution, are the three categories?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess you have told me you have basically summarized the areas that you report to the province on?

MR. MARCELLO:  Within those areas, how they are reflected on our scorecard and what the benchmarking community looks like for those areas, where it exists.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in terms of the actual work of producing for the -- at least for the areas where there is benchmarking, I think I understood you to be saying that it's a combination of your own internal analysis plus information you get from the CEA?

MR. MARCELLO:  It would be the CEA.  Again, is it a report or is it an analysis?  I am not aware of, but it's that CEA relationship.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the second part of what he was looking for, and I think he actually asked for it -- he started to ask for it on the transcript.  I think it's at page 37 and 38, and in the midst of that, because benchmarking was punted to this panel, his question about actual benchmarking reports under these three categories was punted to this panel.

So I am going to ask you:  Can you provide copies of the material that's actually sent to the province?  I understand we have talked about what it is that you are sending, but in terms of what in paper form is actually sent to the province under those three categories of benchmarkings or standard evaluations, what do you give them?

MR. ROGERS:  Once again, Mr. Chairman, I don't know what's available.  I think maybe some inquiries are being made at the moment, as a matter of fact, but can I take that under advisement?  I just don't know what's available and whether there are any problems with doing it.  I am not going to make my argument about interrogatories, again, but let me check and see what's available.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's satisfactory.  We will make that an investigatory undertaking to report.

MS. LEA:  J4.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4: TO INVESTIGATE REPORT OF MATERIAL TO SHAREHOLDER


MR. BUONAGURO:  If it helps, the material from the CEA -- I don't know if this is completely out there or whether this actually is relevant, but Exhibit I-1-8 is an interrogatory response to Board Staff.  And I see in there there are excerpts at attachment 4 from a report by the Canadian Electrical Association, and it has to do specifically with service quality analysis, a 2009 report.  It kind of looks like something that might be part of a larger report that may contain the information you are looking for in answering the undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  I thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Chairman, we will investigate and let you know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I think that's it for what I am doing for Mr. Shepherd specifically, but I will stay on the topic of the benchmarking, at least in general, for my cross.  And I would like to start with -- well, I am going to be restricting my questions on benchmarking to the productivity aspect of the benchmarking, okay?

And, specifically, my understanding is that the company is responding to a direction from EB-2008-0272 with respect to productivity benchmarking.  Is that essentially what the company is doing, in part?

MR. MARCELLO:  In terms of the whole area of benchmarking, and productivity specifically, it's the one area where the state of the art is lacking.  The metric that we were struggling with a moment ago is an example of something that, at the CEA level, we have been not just -- the community has been promoting the development of.

So how is productivity handled within the company?  I think I can elaborate.  How do we benchmark productivity is a much more difficult discussion.  We can get into benchmarks of specific asset classes.  And, again, in those areas where there has been a long history of reporting service levels, whether it's transmission availability or system availability, there is a lot there.  In terms of input, output, unit cost, there hasn't been a lot.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Perhaps maybe just to focus my area of interest, I will go back to the actual decision in EB-2008-0272, and this will frame, I think, what I am interested in.  Specifically, I'm looking at page 31 of the decision.  It is just one paragraph, and I will read it for the record.  This is under the heading, I think, of, if I go back a few pages, the Board findings.  So the last paragraph of the Board findings on this topic is this:
"Given the high proportion that compensation costs represent in the overall company costs, the Board will always be interested in having the best evidence available to make determinations of the prudence of these costs and as they relate to productivity.  The Board directs Hydro One to continue its key performance indicator development and to improve on its cost allocation accounting processes with the objective of being able to demonstrate improvements in efficiency and the value for dollar associated with its compensation costs."


So I think you will maybe recall that particular direction from the Board.  I think that is, in part, what you are responding to in this application.

MR. MARCELLO:  In terms of the discussion on compensation, I think panel 3 will be able to more adequately answer your question.  In terms of the areas of value for money, I think there are many areas within the evidence - and I am prepared to go through them - where we are -- we strive to demonstrate how our investment decisions or our processes have resulted in benefits in terms of a more efficient execution of work or a reduction of in the cost of work.

I started down that path earlier this morning with Mr. Faye.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Maybe I will try this.  Going to the evidence, at least the application in-chief -- and this is from Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 15 of 15 under the heading "productivity".  And I will read this, as well, because it's fairly short.  So under "productivity", the evidence states:
"Productivity is measured in transmission unit cost where its capital and O&M expenditures are reported as a percentage per asset.  For 2009, the results are as follows..."


And then I won't read it.  This is where you point out that the actual results for 2009 are 10.1 percent, and that's lower because of a delay in major capital projects.

Do you recall that part of the evidence?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so what that suggests to me is that in terms of the Board's direction on maintaining your work on developing key performance indicators specifically with respect to productivity, you are focussed on this particular test, the transmission unit cost, which you started to talk about with Mr. Stephenson; is that correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That is correct.  And, again, I do want to touch on the 2010 corporate scorecard, KX1.3.  Again, I am looking at the non-confidential -- sorry, the confidential version.  Page 25 of the presentation material under the area of productivity, you will notice that there is a metric that's there, as well, the collaborative planning index, and there are TBDs.

That is an area where we have made efforts or are continuing to make efforts to develop key performance measures that will help to demonstrate productivity improvements within the company.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that third one -- I mean, if you look at the three different subjects under productivity, I think we are -- you have been and we are going to be continue to discuss transmission costs in a second.

Distribution cost I am assuming is related to the distribution system?

MR. MARCELLO:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And isn't directly relevant in this area.

MR. MARCELLO:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then collaborative planning index, well, I can ask you two questions.  One, when you say "collaborative", do you mean transmission and distribution together?

MR. MARCELLO:  There are a couple of elements of that.  When you go back to some of the earlier statements around the challenges that face the company, how do we work as a team - thus the word "collaborative" - better to deliver the business results that we are after.

The metric that's being developed in that area comprises elements of work that you couldn't unbundle T or D readily or easily.  It's much more focussed on how do we go about planning our work, getting the work defined and scoped, properly engineered, work through our supply chain to make sure that long lead time items are in hand and secured, and that those materials are delivered on site to take advantage of outage windows that have been given.  The way we have characterized it internally is "right material, right place, right time," so as a theme, "right material, right place, right time," people can relate to it, make sense.  If you are doing a good job there, you will have an efficient operation, you will meet your customer needs, you will meet your outage requirements.

The challenge and the key has been to translate that theme into specific numbers that people can look at and continually improve processes.  That has been the focus of that specific area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I take it from that, that either in your next distribution case or in your next transmission case, the company may be coming forward with this newly developed productivity tool called "collaborative planning index" which may be able to shed some further light on what the company is doing, but you are not actually -- well, you don't have any information on that now other than the concept, I think?

MR. MARCELLO:  The concept is there.  We are operationalizing it, or trying to operationalize it as we speak.  We are trying to determine what is the right thing to measure.  It's easy to pick a number, but will it drive the correct behaviour?

Those are the sorts of things we are working through.  Our goal is to take that metric and have it in place as something that we can continually work on improving our operations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

So really, for this hearing we are going to, I think, focus on transmission unit costs under productivity; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  As a KPI?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. MARCELLO:  I think that would be correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And you took Mr. Stephenson to the Board Staff Interrogatory No. I, tab 1, schedule 3, which, I guess, about two pages of explanation about, I guess, the development of the measure and how Hydro One is performing under it from 2004 to 2009.

Can I ask you to turn that up?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to ask you some questions about how it operates.

First of all, in the third sentence, I guess, of the response, it says:

"The measured value is expressed as a percentage, and nominally a lower percentage is better."

Do you see that?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we go over the page to table 1, on that simple view of what the measure represents, it looks like in 2004, 2005, 2006, you were hovering around six percent, and that's lower than 2007, 2008 and certainly 2009.  So on that simple view of the measure, it looks like you were doing well in the early years, and it's getting worse; is that fair?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think your assessment is fair.  However, what you have highlighted is the difficulty with creating a new measure and some of the unattended consequences, and this is one of the subject areas within the benchmarking community, for lack of a better word.

So when you start looking at transmission unit cost, and the numerator has to do with OM&A and capital and the denominator has to do with an increasing rate base, relatively slowly or quickly, you start to realize that -- how would I apply this measure in a utility that is fully developed, not expanding and relatively new, i.e., not having the need to reinvest in my existing asset base?  Then I would take the statement that the measure expressed as a percentage, nominally lower is better.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. MARCELLO:  However, you look at an environment where there is a need to expand your system for renewables and aggressively reinvest in existing plant, the number will grow, so what becomes interesting when you actually have a benchmarking discussion with your peers is if everybody is growing and everybody is reinvesting in their asset base, then everybody's number is going up.

And then you get into discussion:  Well, is it the relative speed at which the numbers increase that determines good performance?

I guess what I am trying to say here is it's an evolving metric.  It is here.  We can have a discussion about what it means, but to try to say your performance is good or bad on the basis of it, in hindsight, would lead us to an interesting conversation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess you are implying there whether or not you could draw valid conclusions from that would be debatable?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think it leads to having a good debate and discussion of what are the important issues that are facing an individual utility, and the metric will help to highlight it.  I think drawing a conclusion that big is bad or smaller is bad, is, I think, dangerous, without having the full debate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So by way of example, I guess what actually happened, you had a forecast 10.6 percent measure –- sorry, are you having trouble hearing me?

Your forecast for 2010, I believe, was 10.6 percent results on this measurement, and the actual –- or, sorry, was that 2009?  2009, sorry.

2009, you had projected 10.6 percent on the test; the actual was 10.1 percent, and the reason for that was delays in capital spending; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And from another view, delayed capital spending might not be seeing as a good thing, even though it improved your measure?

MR. MARCELLO:  There are a couple of things when you look at that.  So I now have this metric and I pick a target.  My target is going to be based on what I think my rate base is going to look like, and what I think I am going to spend.

The metric starts to evolve into something that wasn't intended in that scenario.  It starts to evolve into a measure of how well can you hit your budget, or how close can you hit your budget.

So again, it is a new metric.  The history, we have gone back to try to piece together, and all the utilities are doing that.  But you have really touched on:  So what did it mean in 2009?  And the value, again, of these metrics is you have a conversation and you can now start to debate and understand good and bad.

Those conversations don't take place when we look at transmission reliability data, because those took place a decade ago, as the bugs were worked out of those metrics.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going the resist engaging in the full conversation right now, given time constraints, but thank you for that.

MR. MARCELLO:  Maybe afterwards.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe.  I am going to move on -- thank you.  I am going to move on to some specific questions on sustaining expenditures, both OM&A and capital, and I am going to be using as a nice reference point the Exhibit J2.3, which is a summary of –- well, it's a summary of the applied-for OM&A in all categories and the capital spending in all categories, and it also includes the minimum level of spendings for those categories.

MR. MARCELLO:  Sorry, the reference again?

MR. BUONAGURO:  J2.3.

MR. MARCELLO:  J2.3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's one white sheet and two blue.

MR. MARCELLO:  Okay.  We have them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I hear a lot of shuffling papers, so I am just going to wait 30 seconds.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Carry on, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So I am going to be focussing on the tables, and looking at the table on page 2, and I guess we are going to be focussing on the sustaining parts of the table, and then a little bit on the operations part of the table.

Essentially, this shows your filed OM&A budgets for the different -- we will start with the sustaining, the different sustaining categories of spending.

Do you see that?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And you have gone through it couple of times, but I believe it's Interrogatory Response No. I-1-38.  It is the response to a Board Staff interrogatory where you talk about where the reductions were made in the different OM&A categories with respect to the Board -- the minister's direction.

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it looks from that, to characterize it, most of it was taken out of the sustaining budget, and some of it was taken out of the shared services and other costs; is that a fair generalization?

MR. JUHN:  12.9 million in 2011 was taken out of sustainment and 11.3 in 2012, so, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I want to -- the table that we are looking at at J2.2 shows the minimum level, and I haven't gone into a long cross-examination on what it means to have a minimum level and building levels above minimum level, but I am going to assume that you guys know all about that in terms of your system planning; right?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, we -- well, obviously in terms of our minimum and the various levels, they are derived -- they are derived on guidelines that we have established as part of our business planning process, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I am going to take a guess at what may have happened when you were asked to look for cuts.  My understanding is that when you are building your plans for, in this case, the sustaining budget, you have a minimum level, and then you build level 1, 2 and 3 above that.  Is that generally what happens in most categories?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, presumably, when you originally were contemplating filing you would -- for example, in a particular category, you may have had level 3, and in some categories you may have had level 2 across the board.  The original filing would reflect some sort of attachment to particular levels of spending, which then made their way into the filing?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, and some of them may have been minimum and some may have been level 1, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  I am presuming when you were asked to make cuts, the easiest way to do that or at least the starting point would be to look at what you had filed, in terms of levels, and see which ones you felt comfortable moving down.  So, for example, you may have moved some of the categories from level 2 to level 3.  You may have moved some from 2 to 1, vice versa; things like that.  Was that generally how it went?

MR. JUHN:  To some degree.  The analysis that was done to establish the minimum, that was carried out in early 2009.  The review of the plan was carried out in 2010, so some of the aspects would have changed during that time, and also the risks around the various assets would have changed.

As such, yes, we would use the minimum or we would use the lower levels as a guide to look in areas where one could improve. But, also, we would use or reduce -- but we would also look at it from a blank sheet point of view to see -- to see where we stand currently.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So that suggests to me that in some categories, what was the minimum level when you had originally done the analysis may have lowered, which may have given you more room to move, from your perspective?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. JUHN:  And I haven't reconciled in terms of to be specific -- to give you specific answers in that area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not going to ask you for the specifics.  I am just trying to understand the process.  So thank you for that, although looking at the specific line items, I just wanted to reconcile some of the numbers.

I noticed, for example, under ancillary systems maintenance, that the difference between what turned out to be the new-filed amount of 15.8 in 2011 is lower than the minimum level for 2011 by 300,000, which isn't, I guess, in the grand scheme of your revenue requirement, a large amount.  But I am just curious as to how that might have happened.

MR. JUHN:  Again, it was a review of the particular work programs, the risks around those particular work programs, the -- as I indicated, the minimum would have been developed somewhat over a year before that, before this analysis took place.

So one can expect a difference.  I believe we even spoke to it in the interrogatories, to some extent.

MR. SPENCER:  I believe that's a fair characterization, Mr. Juhn.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you were to do -- at least for that particular item, if you were to do a new minimum level analysis, it would likely be below the filed, if you were to do it from scratch now?

MR. SPENCER:  It would likely be quite close to filed in this particular case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, that's fair.  Thank you.

And I was also looking, in particular, at the overhead lines program, spending, and I noticed that -- and this is a little complicated, maybe, but I am going to ask, anyway.

The filed amount for 2011 is just over 20 million, and the minimum level is 18 million.  But then if you go to 2012, the filed amount is $3 million higher than the 2010 
-- 2011, sorry, but the minimum level is almost $2 million below what it would be in 2011.

So there seems to be, in my mind at least, a disconnect between the relationship between the minimum level and the applied-for spending in those two years, and I was wondering if you could help me with that.


MR. JUHN:  At that particular point in time, our planners would have made a judgment that there was some availability to extend some of the corrective work, I believe.  Again, as I indicated, this was done in early 2009.  As such, we did -- we have updated the program to the current values.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, again, if you were to do the minimum level spending for those two years in those two categories, it would probably be something different than what is here?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. JUHN:  I might just add, in terms of the minimum, the review of the minimum, the planners initially prepare the various levels of the minimum as part of the planning process.  That does get reviewed, and we haven't been -- we haven't been adjusting the minimum.  So, again, you would have a different value as you go forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Flipping over to the capital side, I received an interrogatory response yesterday, J2.2, which set out all of the different adjustments to the capital spending within the test years that were made in response to the minister's direction.  So that's J2.2.

MR. JUHN:  Yes, we have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the thing that leapt out at me was that of all the different areas of capital spending reductions that were made, none of them were in the sustaining budget.

And I was wondering if there was a particular reason why that would be the case?

MR. JUHN:  I can't speak for the development, but in terms of sustaining, we reviewed our work programs extensively and we determined that the programs that we had put forward and the particular projects that you find in this submission, they were necessary work.

And this goes along with the company's view in terms of not allowing sustainment to lag, not allowing it to be deferred, because it's ongoing work that has to be done in order to -- in order to maintain our reliability and our customer supply.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Maybe I just want to clarify.  Was the potential for cuts in sustaining looked at as part of the process?  I am just trying to see what level of direction, or -- I think it was suggested to you, for example, that you may have been told to cut 20 million, and you said, No, that's not the case.  You were told to look at the budget and see where you might make cuts.

Were you given that same direction in the capital side of the sustaining and just reached the conclusion that you didn't think there was anything to recommend, or did you just focus on the OM&A?

MR. JUHN:  In terms of direction I was given, was to reduce or see where there were potential reductions and --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Without any specification one way or the other, OM&A versus capital?

MR. JUHN:  There was a leaning towards OM&A, but it didn't exclude capital.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I have one more bit of cross I would like to do before the break, and this is a very project-specific bit and it has actually to do with operations.  I am going to ask you to turn up a particular project sheet.  So this is at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3.

I am looking at project 06, which is the wide area network, I think. Yes, the wide area network project. So again, that's D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and it's reference number 06.

MR. JUHN:  Got it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, within the operating budget, and specifically within the integrating operating infrastructure, this is essentially the project, I think.  The gross cost of the project is $37.1 million, and that's the bulk of the spending in that –- well, it's over half the spending in that category of spending, right?

MR. JUHN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I just want some clarification, because at the top of the page, it talks about the in-service date being 2011.  Do you see that?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then there's a note there, note 1, and at the bottom it says:

"First phase is in-service in 2011.  All phases will be in-service by end of 2014."

Do you see that?

MR. MCLURE:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my question is this:  Elsewhere in the evidence, it shows the actual spending per year and for that particular project.  I am looking at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 4, page 13.

And I can tell you what it says.  It says wide area network capital spending bridge year .3 million, test year 11 million, and for 2011 and test year 2012, 26.1 million, which essentially add us up to the gross cost of the project, right?

MR. JUHN:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My question is simply this:  How is it all the spending is being done within the test years, when parts of it aren't going to come into service until 2014?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Offhand, I can't give you an answer in terms of the amount, other than the bulk of the spending is over the test years.

And then I will have to assume here that in terms of the various phases -- which is bringing in different circuits and protocols -- that will be spread out over the remaining years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are saying -- I think you are suggesting that you will actually be spending all that money within the test years?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that the part, the little bits of at the end which go into service --

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yeah, in –-

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- in some of the areas will occur beyond the test years, but are de minimus, I guess.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yeah.  Most of the equipment, the purchasing and the equipment and so forth is going to happen in the test years, and the actual -- a lot of the process of then putting this new WAN in place and doing circuits is on a priority basis, in terms of the different functions that are being added.

And I am assuming that that's going on over -- coming in over the remaining years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You sound just a touch uncertain, so maybe we'll -- that's your answer, and then if it's something different when you check it, you will let me know?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yeah, I can confirm that.

MR. ROGERS:  We'll assume -- I believe it is correct, my understanding, and of it's not, we will advise the Board and my friend.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

We will take our break until 10 minutes to 2:00 –- Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's fine, and I will still keep panel 3 available for this afternoon, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I expect that Mr. Thompson has, I think, certainly not enough to finish the rest of the day, and we can start --

MS. LEA:  I have about 20 minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And Ms. Lea.  So we can probably start panel 3 and -- but we will rise sharply at 4:30 today.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:52 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:01 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Panel, my name is Peter Thompson.  I represent Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters. The first series of questions I have for you relate to the material filed this morning.  It's confidential material, but I will try and just keep this at a very high level so we don't have to go into camera.

This is Exhibit J3.6 and these long-term outlook documents that Mr. Rogers filed this morning.  I understand you folks can answer some questions about these?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, we can.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  First of all, could you tell us -- describe the audience for whom these documents are prepared?

MR. MARCELLO:  It's an internal document produced for the benefit of pretty well all areas of Hydro One to try to get a sense of what the future of the transmission business might be in a ten-year time frame.

So we try to take into account, from an asset perspective, what our assets need and what future developments may come.  The hope in creating the document is that we are able to have meaningful discussions around issues that may impact our operation beyond a budget cycle or a business planning cycle.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The distribution within the corporation would include directors, senior management?  Could you just elaborate on that, please?

MR. MARCELLO:  I don't know exactly offhand, but, generally speaking, it would be a small set of people in more senior positions throughout the company.  Manager, director, sounds appropriate, and, again, depending on the various functions within asset management, as an example, it may go down a little bit lower, because the groups are pulling together some of the asset data that builds up to this document.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did each member of the witness panel here today receive this?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, I did.

MR. SPENCER:  I did, as well.

MR. TREMBLAY:  As did I.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Marcello, did you?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, I did.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just testing.  Okay.  Now, I understood when Mr. Rogers introduced this this morning, and I may not have heard him correctly, but he indicated that what's in these documents did not align, was the word I put down, with the application, or words to that effect.  Did you hear that?

MR. MARCELLO:  I don't recall hearing those exact words, but the intent, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so I just wanted to have you help us with what that means.  And just so that you will understand what I am talking about here, one document is entitled "Ten-Year Transmission Asset Management Outlook", and the second is "Ten-Year Transmission Asset Management Outlook", but one is thicker than the other.  And Mr. Rogers referred to one as being an executive summary, I think.  Is that the smaller of the two documents?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would say the smaller one is the executive summary.  The one other thing to note, on the cover page of the thicker document, it says "Work Scope Details".

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Yes, right.

MR. MARCELLO:  And I think that's the distinction, that it has a lot more detail.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  And the years are 2009 to 2018.  Is this work updated annually?

MR. MARCELLO:  No, it hasn't been.  I would say this was a first attempt at a comprehensive document that looked at development and sustainment needs.  A lot of effort and work goes into the creation of the document, and I would say there is a hope to continually improve and refine it, but there is no formal process that would say this document needs to be updated for 2010 to 2020 or 2019, whatever the case may be.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in the smaller document, starting, for example, at page 23 to 36, there is a section, "Transmission Sustainment", and then pages 37 to 51, "Transmission Development", and pages 52 to 55, "Transmission Advancement".

And then in the work details, you have the same topic headings covered in comparable -- well, larger sections of the material, and the work scope details, volume transmission sustainment goes from pages 18 to 56, transmission development from pages 57 to 142, and then transmission advancement pages 143 to 159.

Can you -- just taking sustainment as an example, which I believe is an area of responsibility of this panel, could you at a high level explain what these materials are presenting as the company's sustainment needs and compare it to the application?  What's the difference, big picture?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would summarize the difference almost as taking the demographics of our sustainment assets, looking at them on a longer term, applying our best available information in terms of what those assets may require, and carrying out more or less a top-down review of those needs.

One of the things that -- I believe the discussion earlier this morning with Mr. Stephenson where we found ourselves in a bit of a debate in terms of what's necessary on a long-term versus what's in the plan, could be characterized as -- sorry, this document somewhat represents that ongoing debate that would take place.

So here we have looked at our assets.  We have looked at them on a longer term.  We have applied some judgment, and we are looking at a sustainment plan over a ten-year period.

The plan in front of you, in terms of a rate filing, would have taken that as an input and we would have done a bottom-up, much more detailed risk assessment on an individual asset-by-asset basis.

I believe there were a few times where we were taking exception to some of the characterizations that were made in the morning around a good plan or a bad plan, and I think the reason for that was, directionally, the assets are aging and will require more investment.

However, the plan that's in front of us is much closer in terms of the time frame, and there is a much greater level of detail in terms of the individual risks we're able to take.

So, again, this document provides a broad picture of where we may be ten years from now, but the rate filings and the submissions are our best position in terms of what the assets need in the immediate term.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me -- and does the same sort of description apply to development and advancement?  This is a higher level look at it over a longer time frame, is it?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think with the development plan, you end up having, based on the information at the time, our best view of what were the investments that were coming or might need to be made on a go-forward basis.

Again, without revisiting all the changes that happened to some elements of the development plan from a green energy perspective, or even a load forecast perspective and how that might impact individual customer investments and timing, the feel is you step back, you look out 10 years, and you put together what you believe are your best assumptions in terms of the timing, and see what it means to the company in terms of how are we going to achieve all of this.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me come at it directly here.

The application before us presents some spending plans for 2011-2012, and they are derived from the planning process that we have heard a lot about already.

My question is:  Does the application present needs that are materially greater than is set out in these documents?  Is that what Mr. Rogers was getting at when he said the materials don't align?

MR. MARCELLO:  No, I would say the opposite is true.  I would say that the asset needs document highlights a number of investments in the development area that will probably not materialize the way it was originally envisioned.  And again, for a numerous reasons, those investments are more than likely deferred or pushed out of the 10-year time frame.

And from an asset needs perspective -- although I wouldn't be able to parse it individual asset at a time -- there is a general feeling -- and, again, I think this is the point Mr. Stephenson was trying to make, is that when you sit back and look at all of your assets' demographic basis and apply whatever asset information you have available, it would appear you need a lot more investment than you're asking for in this plan.

So I would say that our plan before the OEB at this time, the rate plan, is less than what would have been envisioned in a longer-term, 10-year look.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what about sustainment? You mentioned development; what about sustainment?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think the same thing is true for sustainment in terms of the aging of the assets.  Again, I don't want to characterize the analysis in the 10-year outlook as simplistic, but much more a top-down view and directionally indicating that aging assets require a greater level of investment.

However, when we actually sit down to develop a bottom-up plan, we are taking into account much more information in terms of the actual condition of every element and what those risks look like.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is there anything else that -- to your knowledge, that relates to this not-in-an-alignment topic?

MR. MARCELLO:  I think it might be useful to articulate how it's used as part of a process.

You may argue there are elements of this that are upper bound.  There may be things that are uncertain, and we have taken an estimate or a guess at what the world may look like.

Some folks may look at it and say:  Well, what is this going to mean to out debt structure 10 years from now or our dividend policy 10 years from now?  You know, I'll leave those comments to panel 4.

But what we look at is there is a lot of work to do; how are we going to get this done?

So it starts to draw your attention not to the actual answer, but to the problem.  And some of those problems are it's a big plan, there is a lot of work to do.

And what starts to happen is a conversation around:  Are we organized in a fashion to do this work?  Are we organized in a fashion to execute the sustainment, without necessarily being negatively impacted by all the work in development?  What can we do to drive our costs down through standardization, if we are going to be reinvigorating our investment base?

To me, the value of the plan is to foster those kinds of conversations.

You will notice in the plan, as well, there aren't a lot of dollars spelled out.  It is not a:  Here is how much this costs.  It's very much:  Here is the work that we think will need to be done.  And it was conscious effort to separate the cost from that, because we wanted to deal with those, I will argue, more strategic issues in terms of where the business was going long-term.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there anything in it about the economic impacts of all this on consumers in Ontario, or is this just confined to work that might be done?  I know there is something in there about risks.

MR. MARCELLO:  I am sure there is risks.  I don't know that there is any sort of economic analysis, in terms of trying to price the plan in capital or OM&A, or in terms of customer impacts specifically, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's fine.

Let's move on to another question that I have arising from materials that were being discussed today.  This is Exhibit J2.3.  You were having a discussion with Mr. Buonaguro about this, and I just want to make sure I understand what I thought you were saying.

And if you go to page 2 of the response in the blue sheets, do you have that, panel?  This is just --

MR. MARCELLO:  We do, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I just want to get the dates here.

In the columns -- this is now on the OM&A chart filed -- that -- am I correct that that's a reference to what's filed in this application that stemmed from the June 2009 business plan, the November budget and outlook, the February update and then the May adjustments?  Those are the numbers that came out of that process?  Under the "filed" column?

MR. JUHN:  Under the "filed"?  Yes, it's the May.  It aligns with the filing.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then we have in the "minimum level" column, 2011-2012, I got the impression from what you were saying that these stemmed from a study that was done sometime before the 2010 planning process started?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, those would have been produced early 2009, at the time that we were preparing the 2010 to 2014 investment plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  So these minimum levels for '11, are they done annually as part of the planning process, along with business plan, budget and outlook, and then update and filing?  Or -- I got the impression these were some date prior to that, but...

MR. JUHN:  These would have been -- these are part of the investment planning process and they are updated every year as part of that process.  And with that process comes -- as Mr. Buonaguro indicated -- the various levels, the minimum level 1, level 2.  We use that and the risk assessment to determine what is appropriate level of investment, and then what you see in the submission here is that.

If I can expand a bit on it in terms of the minimum and the evolution of the minimum, the minimum gets used quite a bit in terms of what is sort of the lower bound of an investment, and it's also construed at times to be an acceptable level of investment.

And our planning process, in no way does this -- is this determined on the basis of being an acceptable investment.

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't want to hit that speech button.  We have had that --

MR. JUHN:  Oh, have you?

MR. THOMSON:  -- in several cases, but you go ahead if you want to.

MR. JUHN:  It's an evolution of our investment process.  Historically, it would have been managers and such that would have prepared a program.  This process removes the -- removes or attempts to remove much of the judgment, and also normalizes our investment plans.

MR. THOMPSON:  But am I correct in understanding what you said to Mr. Buonaguro, that if you updated that for 2010 -- in other words, just prior to the May 2010 adjustments being presented to the board of directors for approval -- we have different minimums?

MR. JUHN:  For the 2011 to 2015 plan, yes, there are different -- there are different minimums.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, do we know them today or are they yet to be determined?

MR. JUHN:  We are in the process of compiling the 2011 and –- to '15 investment plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  So will it be available -- I am just concerned that the Board may look at these minimums and have them influence its decision in some way.  When I hear you saying there are some further minimums in the mill that are really relevant to 2011 and 2012.

MR. MARCELLO:  Again, I think to the point of what is a minimum and how it's used, it's there to put a common understanding with the planners as they develop -- try to take their experience and analytics and put it on paper so that management can make an assessment of what's an appropriate risk to take.

You will notice that there are some negatives in terms of the development program.  There were obvious changes.  The Green Energy Act plan had changed.  So we could have spent time recasting those relative minimums and said -- bringing them down, but it really doesn't add any more information in terms of the discussion and the debate.

It highlights a place to ask a question:  Why is it a negative?  And the question would be -- well, there was a change in government direction, or the load forecast is such that a customer is no longer planning to build their TS, and we are no longer planning to provide for it.  It was envisioned we would have a year ago.

So, again, it is a tool to help us levelize the playing field across many diverse investments, and it may go up or down individually based on a change in regulation for PCB or a finding coming out of a specific equipment failure, but, ultimately, it's there to allow us to apply some sort of levelization when we are applying judgment in terms of risk.

Really, to change it on an ongoing basis doesn't really help or further the business planning process, at all.

MR. JUHN:  And if I can just add, too, in terms of a reference base, the minimum, the only way that it could be used is that it's really a lower bound.  In terms of the risks associated with that, they are severe.  They are significant, and we would contend that the reference base should really be the investment plan that has come out of our prioritization process.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just on the negative ones on the capital side, what I hear you saying is the Board should not give a whole lot of weight to those negative numbers in its deliberations, because if we updated our minimum levels, they would disappear?

MR. MARCELLO:  I will use an analogy, because I am not sure exactly --

MR. THOMPSON:  Just answer my questions.  If you updated the minimum levels, am I correct they would disappear?  And then go on and give your explanation.

MR. ROGERS:  Do the witnesses know whether they would disappear without doing the analysis?

MR. MARCELLO:  For the development ones, I would say that's very likely the outcome.  And, again, I will use the analogy just to test if I got it right, and it's a personal example.  If I am budgeting for my three children to go to university next year and they are all going to York and they are all living at home, and it is 10,000 a kid, I am going to budge 30,000 as my minimum for them to go to school.

When one decides to go away to school and spend more than the minimum, that's one scenario.  One may decide to drop out.  My minimum is still set at 30.  My expenditure is going to be only 20.  I'm minus ten.  I can recast the number, but I think the thing that is important is if I were looking at all of these things across the board, I would be able to zero in on that point very quickly and have an understanding very quickly as to what just happened.

My plan was for three to go to school.  Only two are going to school.  I have a piece of information very quickly without having to do a lot of digging.

That's the intent behind setting some of these levels.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, send them to Queen's and you will lose your shirt.

[Laughter]

MR. JUHN:  If I could just add, in terms of the sustaining element here -- and the only one that I am seeing that has a negative is transmission lines reinvestment, and the changes in -- or the investment plan, the file plan being less than the minimum or being -- yes, less than the minimum is really a function of the scheduling of the work and the cash flow of that particular project.

So in terms of sustaining, yes, I mean, there will be changes to the minimum and -- but, what I see here, the majority of these, if not almost all of them, the investment plan that we are proposing is somewhat above the minimum.  But that doesn't mean that the minimum will not be recast.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you for that.  Let me move to a few more questions here that were really the focus of my prepared cross.  The focus of my questions, as you probably gleaned from yesterday, is the extent to which planning referenced in this application was responsive to consumer impacts.

And it's apparent from the cross-examination of panel 1 that there is a chronology to the planning that I know you folks are familiar with, so I won't go through it again.

But one of the steps in the planning was the presentation to the board of directors in February of 2010, and those documents are marked as confidential exhibits in this proceeding.  And my question is - I think it would be to you, Mr. Marcello:  Were you involved in presenting to the board of directors in February of 2010?

MR. MARCELLO:  No, I was not.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you can't help us with anything that happened there.  Was anybody else on the panel involved in presenting to the board in February of 2010?

MR. SPENCER:  I will speak on behalf of all of us.  No, we were not.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.  And moving forward, then, in the chronology, we have heard from the witnesses yesterday, particularly Mr. Gregg, that everything was rolling along quite nicely until about the end of March, and Hydro One got a call from the ministry saying, Hold off on the filing.  Did you folks happen to either read that testimony or hear it on the webcast?

MR. MARCELLO:  I am aware of the testimony.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And following that, I understand from Mr. Gregg that there were a number of meetings between Hydro One people and ministry people, throughout April and into May, discussing the concerns that had prompted the minister -- or the ministry to say, Hold off on the filing.

And my question is:  Were any of you involved in those discussions?

MR. MARCELLO:  I was not.

MR. JUHN:  I was not either.

MR. SPENCER:  Nor I.

MR. TREMBLAY:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  It's becoming a short examination.  So in terms of the reductions that you folks talked about here in sustainment, I got the impression these came out of the 'hold it/don't file', and then the subsequent discussions with the ministry.

Were you folks told to go back and find some areas where we could reduce our costs?  Is that the way it worked?

MR. JUHN:  We were asked to review our work programs to determine if there were any areas that we could, I guess, manage the system in an area of acceptable risk.

MR. THOMPSON:  And who made the ask of you?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would have made the ask of Mr. Juhn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Who made the ask of you, if you weren't part of these discussions with the ministry?

MR. MARCELLO:  I don't know exactly who, but somewhere in the broader management team there would have been a discussion that we were revisiting our plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And Mr. Gregg gave some evidence yesterday, and I just wanted to confirm it, in terms of the O&M reductions.  And these are outlined in the high level in your response to CME No. 1 that was referenced this morning.  That's the May presentation to the board, but there is more detail in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 38, and I think you may have referred to that this morning, as well.

But Mr. Gregg indicated yesterday, at least as I understood him, that of these 19.4 million OM&A reductions in 2011, all but 6.5 were tied to deferring projects, postponing projects, words to that effect.  Do you recall that discussion?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, sir, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you agree with that?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so in terms of the cost reductions that were achieved in this adjustment process, we are down to the 6. -- as opposed to deferrals, is what I am talking about -- we are down to the 6.5 of total shared services and other costs, and that's the responsibility of another panel, as I understand it?

MR. MARCELLO:  I am sorry, you are referring to

I-1-38?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. MARCELLO:  Oh, sorry.  Could you ask the question again?  I apologize.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  So that in terms of actual belt-tightening, reducing costs, I took it from the discussion with Mr. Gregg yesterday that what we are really talking about is 6.5 million in 2011, and that's the item that appears under "shared services and other costs"?  I just wondered if --

MR. JUHN:  I guess what I have to do is just add a little bit of context in turning around the sustaining reductions.  There were a couple of reductions associated with extending re-verification, protection re-verification, which is not really a deferral.  So there are a couple of items in here that are not obvious, that are not specific deferrals.

So there were some additional reductions in -- I guess, additional to that 6.5, that one would not categorize as a deferral.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, so are you now disagreeing with Mr. Gregg?

MR. JUHN:  Well, I think Mr. Gregg may -- and this is -- I am pointing out a detail that he probably wasn't aware of, in terms of the reductions that we applied for protection and control.

MR. THOMPSON:  Where is that?  Is that -- what item is that, then, on this exhibit, so you can --

MR. JUHN:  If you go to page 3, the protection and control monitoring meeting:  "Protection re-verification reduced to lower risk assets."

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that seems to be a bundle of items, and then it has got maintenance deferred rather than improved.  So how many dollars are we talking about of the 3.6 million that you say was actual belt-tightening?

MR. JUHN:  About 1.2 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  Apart from that, then, am I right we are talking about the 6.5 million of shared services and other costs that are, at least as far as Mr. Greg was concerned, he thought they were belt-tightening savings, and that's for another panel?

MR. MARCELLO:  That was Mr. Gregg's testimony, and I think Mr. Juhn has clarified the sustainment aspects.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but 6.5 whether it is or isn't belt-tightening -- shared services is for another panel?  Let's put it that way.

MR. MARCELLO:  Panel 3.

MR. SPENCER:  Perhaps within the context of this panel, though, I will elaborate a little but on -- we touched on the four and a half million for power equipment and the 500,000 for ancillary systems maintenance there.

There is an element of reduction in here, because of some of the functionality that we are leveraging now from our SAP implementation in our cornerstone project, so we are getting a lower level of visibility to our work program.  We are able to make more informed risk-based decisions on asset maintenance.  Typically, this is the high-cost maintenance activity, and that's a tactic that we are going to continue to employ in the future.

So there is an element of this $5 million which will be continuing year-over-year.  I would approximate that probably around one to one and a half million dollars.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I leave for argument whether it's overbudgeting or cost belt-tightening on these points, but let me move on here, folks.

The last thing I wanted to just touch on with you folks is the Board's decision in the Hydro One distribution case, just in terms of this chronology that we were discussing yesterday.

We have the hold-off call at the end of March, verbal discussions begin with the ministry and Hydro One as a result of that call, they apparently continue throughout April, and then in May there is the letter from the minister to Hydro One, May the 5th.

But in the midst of all this, on April the 9th, 2010 the Board released its decision in the Hydro One Networks Inc. distribution case for 2010 and 2011.

Are you folks familiar are that decision?

MR. MARCELLO:  We are.

MR. THOMPSON:  And just to put it in context, this decision was based on the same planning process on which this application is based, started with the 2009 -- sorry, those plans were before the Board, the June 2009 five-year business plan, the November 2009 budget and outlook, were before the Board when this decision was rendered.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. MARCELLO:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question again?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  The June 2009 documents marked as an exhibit in this case, and the November 2009 documents that went to the board of directors marked as an exhibit in this case, being the business plan and then followed by budget and outlook, were in evidence before the Board when this case was decided.

Would you take that, subject to check?  "This case" being the Hydro One 2010-2011 distribution rates case.

MR. ROGERS:  I think that's correct, Mr. Chairman, subject to confirmation.  Let's move on.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that was established on the record earlier.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the transmission application that is being put before the Board here, it stems from the very same plans; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the Board in the distribution case made some fairly strong disallowances in terms of OM&A, $40 million for 2010 and $40 million for 2011.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that is with respect to the plans that are driving the transmission application before the Board today; correct?

MR. MARCELLO:  This may be a fine point.  The plans before -- the business plan on which this application is predicated, I think, is the same plan on which the Board made its Decision on distribution.

Subsequent to the distribution decision, that decision has yet to be incorporated into the next plan, and has nothing to do with this right here.

MR. THOMPSON:  But it was rendered before the May presentation --

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- to the board of directors?

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so you folks were working on your numbers prior to the May presentation to the board of directors, right?

MR. MARCELLO:  Which numbers?

MR. THOMPSON:  The numbers of the 12.9 reductions that we were just talking about, shaving your sustainment budget to respond to the concerns expressed by the ministry?  You're working on the --

MR. MARCELLO:  At the May board, we were working on OM&A reductions of $12 million from a sustainment perspective, I think is the answer.  I am not understanding the timing around distribution, I apologize.

MR. THOMPSON:  The Board comes out with a decision in April --

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- saying your O&M distribution –

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes.

MR. THOMSON:  -- is 40 million too high.  This is right in the middle of the discussions that are going with the ministry about reducing your transmission presentation for 2011 and 2012.

MR. MARCELLO:  Okay.  Timing-wise, I am following.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did it have any influence on you?

MR. MARCELLO:  Did it have any influence on us?

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. MARCELLO:  We brought forward a transmission plan to our board.  The cuts and the discussion are the memo in front of you in terms of Interrogatory I-3, schedule 1, the, I think, May board memo that spelled out those cuts.

So all these issues that were happening in and around that time were all the context to that memo going to our board and the discussion associated with the risks to the transmission.  So I think your timing is all aligned.

MR. THOMPSON:  But I am talking about what you guys did.

MR. MARCELLO:  What we did?

MR. THOMPSON:  Did you look at this decision and say, Wow, we better sharpen our pencils, or did you even consider it at all?


MR. MARCELLO:  Well, it's obvious that all of those decisions were considered.  We revisited our transmission plan.  There are elements of the shared service, which, again, panel 3 will touch on, that were obviously going to be impacted by the distribution decision.  From a planning perspective, we are in the year 2010.  We have been given a reduction to 2010 numbers.  We were working on:  How are we going to manage our investments in the current year?  And we were readying ourselves for this transmission filing.

Part of the discussions - and I think Mr. Juhn and Mr. Spencer have elaborated - were, Let's take a look at our investment plans and see what more we can do, from a risk perspective.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just read you one passage from this part of the Board's decision dealing with OM&A and the distribution case, and it's this.  It's on page 13.  The Board described a number of factors that it was taking into account in its decision, and the fourth one is this, "Fourth, the Board was" --

MR. ROGERS:  Can I ask Mr. Thompson just to slow down a bit?  I would like to turn this up, please.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, sorry.  Page 13 of the 2009-0096 decision.  It reads:
"Fourth, the Board must take into account the overall increase and prospect of further increases in the commodity portion of the bill. While these charges are outside of the control of the applicant, they are no less real for customers.  In giving effect to the Board's objective to protect the interests of consumers the Board cannot ignore the overall impacts on customers."


And the Board then goes on and talks about delivery charge and transmission charge increases.  But my question is of you, gentlemen:  What information, if any, did you consider in your exercise of finding the costs to be reduced and the level of costs to be reduced?  What information did you consider about the total increases in the bill?  Did you consider any?

MR. MARCELLO:  It's obvious that we considered the whole issue of affordability, because the plan subsequently changed.  That said, we looked at things within our control, in terms of costs where we didn't -- where we felt it was prudent to defer or cut and maintain a level of risk.

And, again, I am going to read the statement from that May board memo, where:
"...taking increase risk in the short term on individual assets, while trying to maintain overall system impact is minimal with safety and reliability remaining at current levels."


So we looked at where we can belt-tighten, to use your term.  We looked at the risks associated with belt-tightening.  You asked me was I at the February Board meeting.  No, I wasn't.  I was at the May one.  I was asked specifically about the risks and the concerns that we were cutting too far, and this is the statement there that I have played back.

MR. THOMPSON:  I thought I asked you if you were at either of the meetings, and I thought you --

MR. MARCELLO:  No, you didn't.  You were very, very specific, and I leaned over to my friend beside me to make sure.  But, again, I wanted to be completely forthcoming.  I was at the May meeting.  I was not at the February meeting.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what was considered at the May meeting about the overall impacts of all that was going on on the total bill?  What information was considered?

MR. MARCELLO:  You have the information before you.  The memo that was presented to the board is here.  You have cross-examined Mr. Gregg in terms of the memo, and he is the signatory.  And I have told you that I specifically was asked by our board around the risk impacts, and I have highlighted you the specific section of the risk impacts.

In terms of the context, you have laid out what happened and when, and we have shown you the cuts we have made to the plan.  And, again, I would like to also stress that where there are cost controls -- where Hydro One was able to control its own costs, especially in the areas of productivity, we have taken a lot of action to get and keep our costs under control.

MR. THOMPSON:  What was the information that you considered --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, that is the fourth time you have asked the question and it's been answered four times.  You may not like the answer, and no one may like the answer, but it has been asked four times.  And I guess we will give it one more try, but that's the end.  It has been -- the more you ask a question, the more it sounds like argument rather than a question.

MR. THOMPSON:  I guess I disagree, Mr. Chairman, that the question has been answered, but let me try and --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Again, you are free to reference that in your argument accordingly.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.  Maybe -- I don't want to prolong this, but maybe I can try it this way with Mr. Marcello and perhaps not offend you any further, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wasn't offended, Mr. Thompson, but it didn't seem like we were getting any further.

MR. THOMPSON:  I agree with that.  I am not getting anywhere, but let me -- let's turn up, Mr. Marcello, Exhibit KX2.6.  If you go to page 8, there is a slide that presents bill impacts.  Have you seen this before?

MR. MARCELLO:  I don't have it in front of me, but the coloured slides?

MR. THOMPSON:  The coloured slides, page 8, yes.

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, I have.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And you weren't at the meeting, so when did you see it?

MR. MARCELLO:  I am sorry, what did you just --

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, you weren't at the -- this was something tabled at the February meeting, as I understand it.

MR. MARCELLO:  Right.  I thought you asked me if I was at the May meeting.  I apologize.

MR. THOMPSON:  I misspoke myself.  You weren't at the February meeting?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me ask this:  Was anything of this nature tabled at the May meeting?

MR. MARCELLO:  Not to my recollection.

MR. THOMPSON:  So when I was asking my questions about what information did you consider about overall impact, I was trying to ascertain whether anything of this nature was before the May meeting when you're describing what happened at the May meeting, in terms of total bill impact.

So am I correct that nothing in the nature of a presentation, of the type we find at page 8 of this confidential exhibit, was made to the May meeting when you were there?

MR. MARCELLO:  I didn't see this information in the May meeting while I was there.  My understanding, from previous testimony of Mr. Gregg, was the May meeting was a refinement of a plan that has evolved in time, and you have all of the chronology and all the materials of when this material was brought before the board.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.  I will leave it there, Mr. Chairman.  Thanks very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Aiken, I take it you are still not interested in asking any questions?

MR. AIKEN:  That's true.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Lea.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Panel, I have a question about the operations O&M budget, and I wonder if you could please look at Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2 where you have given us a summary of this budget.  You have that in front of you?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, we do.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And I wanted to note that the budget has grown from 2009 to 2012.  In fact, between 2009 and 2010, it went up 18.1 percent, and in 2011 over 2010, it went up another 6.8 percent.  And then in 2012, again, an additional 2.9 percent.

Have I understood the evidence correctly?  Sorry, am I asking you to do math on the fly?

MR. TREMBLAY:  No, sorry, I think I grabbed the wrong table here.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I'm looking at C1 -– oh, maybe I give you the wrong reference.  Is it C1, tab 1 or tab 2?

C1, tab 2, I do beg your pardon.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Tab 2?

MS. LEA:  Yes, C1, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. MARCELLO:  Yes, we have it.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And again, I think that I would be asking you to do math on the fly, but there is an increase from '09 to '10, again from '10 to '11, and again, '11 to '12; is that correct?

MR. JUHN:  And I assume we are referring to sustaining?

MS. LEA:  No, the operations.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Sorry.

Okay.  Sorry.  We are all on the right table now.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I am just looking at the "operations" line of that table.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So there is growth from '09 through '12 in increments of greater or lesser degree?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.

I would like to understand why these budgets are growing, and I was wondering if you could describe very briefly what functions are supported through this operations budget.

MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.  I think if we go to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 5?

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. TREMBLAY:  This provides the details on the sustaining operations budget.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So can you give me a quick list of sample functions?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Sure.  So under that, if I go to table 1, which is page 3 of 12, we have got the breakdown here.  And what we see is operations; that, in essence is the -- if you will, is the actual -- somewhat the payroll for the staff directly involved in operations at the Ontario grid control centre.

Operations support provides the cost -- for the support cost of all of the systems at the OGCC.  So that would have some staff, but it also includes licensing costs, vendor support costs, items of that nature.

And then of course the last two are the environment, health and safety, and large customer and generator relations.  And this is, again, predominantly costs for staffing for the group that provides support for the customer relations.

MS. LEA:  What's driving the increases year-over-year?

MR. TREMBLAY:  The biggest drive is under the operations support, as you can see there.  And really, the main driver in that area is -- was the NMS upgrade, which was discussed at a previous rates... but the NMS upgrade in essence was replacing the entire network management system that we use to monitor and control the grid.  With that upgrade, the main reasons for that was end-of-life of the facilities, as well as we had to make a number of changes in order to comply with cyber-security requirements.

Once the new system came in place, the overall maintenance costs went up on that system quite a bit, and two drivers for that was increased licensing costs that go with the software, predominantly for the cyber-security component of it, and as well, there is the overall system grew to the point that the architecture that we use went under a different licensing structure, if you will, and that carried increased costs as well.

MS. LEA:  I notice that the "environment, health and safety" line appears to have a fair amount of variability in it.  There has been a rise from '09 to '10, '10 to '11 and '11 to '12.  And previous to that, however, there was a bit of a drop.

Is there anything that primarily drives the rises and falls in this number?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Actually, this one we discussed a bit this morning.  So the recent increases are driven a lot by our initiatives for -- renewed initiatives on safety, Journey to Zero.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Mm-hmm.  All right.  That's good.  Thank you.

So when you decided to begin to reduce bill impacts and attempt to find savings or deferments, if I look at Board Staff IR No. 38 -- that's Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 38 -- I don't see reductions in operations OM&A.  There is reductions in sustainment and reductions in shared services; why was operations O&M not reduced?

MR. TREMBLAY:  In reviewing the operations OM&A, most of the money that's going forward at this point is all considered -- is driven somewhat by maintaining the existing system, so we are not able to cut back on that.

And our current staffing levels, we're still actually understaffed in terms of our demographics and hiring, so again, from a minimum perspective, we didn't feel that we could cut back on that as well.

MS. LEA:  And that's different from what happened with your colleagues in sustaining, who had to cut back and so on.

Was there no area in which you felt that some reduction could be made in these costs?

MR. TREMBLAY:  Not of a material nature, no.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Panel, I notice that you are listed as being responsible for Interrogatory No. 12 from Board Staff, which dealt with the Manby outage incident, and the only question I had with respect to that was:  Is there any update on the cause of that incident?

At the time the interrogatory was written, it was still being investigated.

MR. SPENCER:  I can speak to that.

MS. LEA:  Please.

MR. SPENCER:  Our investigation team has been meeting over the summer since the event, and I received a preliminary assessment in the last couple of days that they have reached two likely conclusions as to root cause of the event.

What we are taking out of those, that investigation, is an adjustment to our maintenance practices for this type of circuit breaker.  We are actually going to do a little bit more of reinforced maintenance on the population we have, generally low-cost, non-intrusive.

We feel that will give us a little bit better information to be able to avoid a similar event -- or a breaker failure, hopefully, without the same consequences of the Manby event.

MS. LEA:  Can you tell us very briefly in words I can understand what the cause was, or what you have determined the likely causes to be?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  These breakers are filled with oil, and they provide electrical insulation.  The condition of that oil had degraded to a point in between our maintenance intervals that was blind to us.  So we had a blind spot in terms of the insulation conditions.

So we are going to shorten the inspection cycle on the condition of that, and we feel that will help us alleviate the risk of a similar event.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.

I would like, please, to compare two documents.  One is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 3, so Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 3.  And you discussed the information in this interrogatory this morning with Mr. Buonaguro in part.  And then I would also like to look briefly at an SEC interrogatory, and that would be Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 2.

And both of these interrogatories deal with the productivity measure you were discussing this morning.

MR. JUHN:  Yes, I have them.

MS. LEA:  When you were discussing this with Mr. Buonaguro, we have now a better understanding of a lower percentage being in a sense a more favourable score, and how delays may contribute to a more favourable score, as counterintuitive as that may seem.

But in the Staff interrogatory, you don't provide the targets for 2010, '11 or '12.  And then when you look at the SEC response, you provide the targets for those years but they are not on the same basis, it appears; they don't appear to be comparable to the figures in the Staff interrogatory.  They appear to be based on sustaining capital and not total capital.  Am I right in my interpretation of this evidence?

MR. MARCELLO:  You are, and that would actually clarify the difficulty I was having earlier.  And, again, I think it goes back to the evolution of the metric.  The original metric, the one that's referred to in the Board Staff interrogatory, is premised on total capital, whereas the SEC response is premised on the sustaining capital alone.

MS. LEA:  And is it upon sustaining capital that you intend to measure this in the future?

MR. MARCELLO:  It is, and, again, one of the early findings, when we were using total capital, is it's actually less than helpful when you have a huge potential development program overshadowing your numbers, and it's difficult to glean how effective you are at managing your existing fleet.

And I think the decision had been made to shift to sustaining, and that caused the confusion earlier.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So if the Board wanted to look at a productivity measure, your recommendation would be that they look at, in terms of this measure anyway, Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 2 page 2, rather than the Board Staff IR?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  And what causes the degradation in performance mentioned between 2010 and 2011 on this measure?

MR. MARCELLO:  Again, it would be the increasing expenditures in the OM&A and sustainment area.  As our sustaining and OM&A costs increase relative to the gross fixed asset base, the number is going to increase.  Again, I do caution you in terms of, overall, what does that mean relative to a reinvestment in an aging fleet.  But it is a metric and it does focus attention in terms of what is happening with the asset base.

MS. LEA:  Do you think you need to take steps to improve this performance -- or, rather, your target?  I mean, you seem to be aiming at doing a bit worse in 2011, I guess is what I am trying to get at.

MR. MARCELLO:  I think we need to do a better job at developing better and more meaningful metrics that we are able to benchmark, is really the answer.

MS. LEA:  I don't mean to be cynical.  So you are not going to keep trying to find a metric until you find one that always gives you a favourable result?

MR. MARCELLO:  Not at all, and I think to your point, are we budgeting to do better or are we budgeting to do worse, I think what we are seeing is we are budgeting to invest in our assets at a level that will maintain overall reliability.  This metric is part of a suite of metrics on a corporate scorecard, which is a balanced scorecard, will tend to bias the effort to spend less while maintaining an overall system risk.

So that tension will be there and this metric will call light to those sorts of issues.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, you mentioned in the evidence that this is a fairly common measure of performance and it can be compared to other utilities.  Do you have data that compares Hydro One's performance to that of other utilities on this measure?

MR. MARCELLO:  This is one of the areas where we are working with the CEA.  I am not sure what data we have at this moment.

MS. LEA:  Would you at least undertake to find out?  And I recognize the caveats that we have heard this morning that you cannot tell us or you do not have access to certain information.

MR. MARCELLO:  I think as part -- well, I will leave it to our counsel.

MR. ROGERS:  I always agree with my friend Ms. Lea.  We will do whatever she asks.

MS. LEA:  Wow.  Holy mackerel.

MR. ROGERS:  Within reason.

MS. LEA:  I might have a much longer cross-examination, Mr. Rogers.  You are encouraging verbosity and also bribes from my friends.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Strike that last comment.

MS. LEA:  Probably wise.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will see what's available and provide it.

MS. LEA:  J4.5, to inquire what data you have that might be useful to the Board comparing Hydro One's performance on this measure to that of other transmission utilities.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.5:  TO PROVIDE OTHER COMPARABLE DATA ON TRANSMISSION UNIT COSTS MEASURE UTILITIES.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If I could interrupt?

MS. LEA: Yes, please.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I wanted to circle back on this later, and it's probably easier to do it right now when it's in front of everyone's mind, rather than having to recapture the context.

Mr. Marcello, if I could ask you what, in your mind, the theoretical, ideal -- the optimum percentage you would be striving for ultimately in a long-term plan, because I was troubled, but I am glad to hear that the variable of the development capital is being removed on a go-forward basis.

That seems to make more intuitive sense to me, now that you are comparing from the ratio of operation and maintenance against your -- with your sustaining capital against the gross value.

But just from a life cycle replacement, you know, utopia, where would you end up if you didn't have -- if you had the perfect sustaining 40-year plan -- 60-year plan?  Where would you end up as a percentage?

MR. MARCELLO:  I will pick 50 years so I can do math in my head.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure, okay.

MR. MARCELLO:  I will assume that there is a certain depreciation that would probably mirror an OM&A depreciation number, so a 50-year life.  So let's assume a 1 percent depreciation.  I know there are finance people everywhere cringing right now as I talk, so this is theoretical.

And if I have an asset that is uniformly aged, everything is one year older than the asset before, and I am going to replace the last one that becomes 51 years, as counsel for the PWU had suggested this morning, you would have one-fiftieth of the capital cost on a rolling rate base.

So I don't know what those numbers work out to, but theoretically that's where you would probably end up.

Then you would factor in the aspects of technological advancements or improvements, reduction in costs over time, additional life out of your asset, perhaps earlier retirements.  So one could see using a document -- again, to me, this is part of the value of a ten-year asset document, is get a better understanding of your assets from a replacement modelling perspective, and try to develop mechanisms, analytics, models that capture all those factors.

But, again, I can't do the math in my head, but I think I have given you the factors.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think I understand where you are heading with it.  So, ultimately, one could look back at the historic build-outs, ones which we are experiencing right now, a period of high-scale development, map that forward, or, you know, prospectively you would look at that and say, Okay, I am going to go through a high level of sustainment cost at that period 50 years out.

MR. MARCELLO:  I think that's fair, and I think we are actually facing a very similar example.  If you look at the build-out of the 500 kV system in the late '70s and '80s to facilitate the nuclear program, those assets are 40 years old right now.  So we can argue are they midlife or end of life, but if we were to take a look at that and project forward five years, ten years, 20 years and apply some top-down models, I think we would be able to predict what would be a good target to shoot for.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So this metric would have two, I suppose, indices on it.  One would be the company's ability to plan its sustaining going forward, based on its historical build-outs, and what is the real trick here, because you would have to -- that's beyond your control as to when you would have to build out these systems.

But you would have the ability to, on a prospective basis, plan your sustainment capital rises, peaks and valleys, and then the true indices here we are trying to capture, once you remove all that background noise, is:  How effective are you on maintaining the system you own?

MR. MARCELLO:  I would agree with that, and I can see a scenario in front of this panel in the future where the debate and the discussion would be around what's an appropriate level relative to risk, and also taking into account that it's not uniform demographics.  Perhaps you want to manage bow waves coming at you, or those sorts of things.

So I think all those other factors would come to play in a discussion of what's an appropriate measure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  A level of granularity below this which would have asset populations based on class, and what have you.

MR. MARCELLO:  Again, one of the reasons for that 10-year plan is to start the analytics and the thought processes around creating that sort of base of knowledge where we can have that type of discussion and debate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

Thank you, Ms. Lea.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Two more interrogatories I wanted to ask you about, please, gentlemen.  I wonder if you could have a look at Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, which has also been mentioned earlier today.

I would like to look at the incidence where Hydro One, in the chart at page 1 of attachment 1 -- let me just make sure I am giving you the right thing.  Yes, so it's Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 8, attachment 1.

Just what is the -- what is the First Quartile study itself?

MR. MARCELLO:  This is on your screens.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. MARCELLO:  I'm sorry, I guess I don't understand the question.

What is the First Quartile study in terms of the study undertaken by the company referred to as First Quartile Consulting?  Or is it our performance?

MS. LEA:  No, that's what I mean.  It's the first thing.

Just give us a brief overview of what this study is, please.

MR. MARCELLO:  The study that was undertaken to attempt to benchmark us against the broader community.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's the answer.

MS. LEA:  Yeah.

MR. MARCELLO:  I'm sorry?

MS. LEA:  That's fine, thank you.

Were you about to tell me a bit more, sir?

MR. MARCELLO:  I was wondering are you going to ask me a question about the analysis or -- sorry.

MS. LEA:  I am now going to proceed to ask you questions --

MR. MARCELLO:  Sorry.

MS. LEA:  -- about the analysis, and I would like you to look, please, at the first page of attachment 1, which is findings from the benchmarking analysis.

And I am interested in the two measure where Hydro One is in the fourth quartile.  It's not clear to me exactly what these measures mean.

So if we look at the first entry under "cost metrics":  "Four-year average transmission line capital spending per asset," you will see that Hydro One, your score is 4.61 percent, and you are in the fourth quartile.

What does that score show?  Is that a good thing, or are you doing well or not so well?

MR. MARCELLO:  I am afraid I can't help you with that question.  I don't have that level of detail at this moment.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you don't know what this score means here?

MR. MARCELLO:  I couldn't -– honestly, I couldn't tell you whether the fourth -- I would surmise fourth quartile was not a good thing, but...

MS. LEA:  It might not be, but because it says "four-year average transmission line capital spending per asset" -–

MR. MARCELLO:  Mm-hmm.

MS. LEA:  -- it could be the reverse also?

MR. MARCELLO:  That's my point, is I don't have the detailed knowledge to answer the question on this specific study.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And then would your answer be the same for the other item under "cost metrics" where you are in first quartile, which is "2008 transmission substation O&M expense per asset"?  Again, you are in the fourth quartile.  Is that a -- would that perhaps be the top quartile or the bottom quartile in terms of qualitative --

MR. MARCELLO:  Unfortunately, I can't answer that.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I guess the purport of my questions is obvious; if this is a problem, are you doing something about it?  And really, it's that that I need.  I don't need all details.

It's more that we looked at this.  Does fourth quartile mean you have an issue?  And is so, what are you doing about it?

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, can I undertake -- can I volunteer an undertaking here to give you some detail about this?  Because I think it depends on what you are looking it, as I understand it, as to whether fourth quartile is good or bad.

MS. LEA:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ROGERS:  I think maybe the best way to deal with this, if I could just take an undertaking to provide a description of what each of these maybe means, and whether fourth or first is the –- where you want to be.

MS. LEA:  That's exactly right, but the purport of my question, of course, would be:  Is it a problem?  And if it is, what are you doing about it?  As opposed to the details and numbers of the calculations.

Thank you very much, Mr. Rogers.  And that will be J4.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.6:  TO PROVIDE EXPLANATION FOR QUARTILE RANKINGS IN FIRST QUARTILE CONSULTING STUDY.

MS. LEA:  Then the last interrogatory I wanted to refer you to was Board Staff Interrogatory No. 37, Exhibit I, tab 1, 37, please.

And here we see an O&M per cost of kilometre transmission line, and also per gross fixed assets.

It looks to us that the O&M per gross fixed assets is pretty steady, but the O&M per kilometre of line seems to be increasing, which would indicate, I guess, a deterioration of performance.

Have you any comment to make as to why this is?  And in your answer, could you consider whether -- again, is it this build-out question?  Is it partly driven by how much is coming into service in any given time?

MR. JUHN:  I can speak to this.  I guess if we are looking at OM&A per kilometre for 2008, if you recall, there was a Bernard fire and -- a transformer fire, and we received a credit of about close to $9 million.  That skews the number slightly.

So in terms of -- in terms of the increase, yes, there is an increase, but it doesn't fall to the extent that one would look -- that one would see from the OM&A per kilometre.

And then if you take that out, the increase, 2010-2011 or so, we are looking at in the neighbourhood of close to three percent, somewhere in that neighbourhood.

That sort of aligns with our OM&A needs.  We have additional pressures in terms of our PCB -- dealing with our PCB issues, cyber-security, et cetera.

So one would expect this number to increase relative to our OM&A.  Our line kilometres have increased slightly, but nothing to the extent that it would significantly affect the numbers.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, there was just one item before we finish off with this panel.

I know the Board is likely to have questions, but I wanted to make sure I raised it.

We received this morning, or Mr. Rogers made available to us on a confidential basis, this 10-year transmission outlook document.  I didn't have it at the time I did my cross-examination, and I am not asking to redo my cross-examination, but it deals very directly with a number of the issues that I was dealing with in my cross-examination.

And frankly, it's a very helpful document that I would fully intend to rely on in argument.  I have reviewed -- and of course, my issue is the sustainment issue -- I have reviewed the chapter on sustainment, which is chapter 10.

And I know, obviously, my friend Mr. Rogers had issues about confidentiality and so forth.  I don't see anything at all in that chapter which is even remotely confidential.

I could be wrong about that and I'm sure –- and that's fine, but could I ask Mr. Rogers, through you, to review that chapter and consider advising whether or not Hydro One is prepared to remove the confidentiality caveat to at least that chapter?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is for the purposes of your argument?

MR. STEPHENSON:  It's for the purposes of my argument, because frankly what I want to avoid, of course, is filing an argument on a confidential basis.  I just think there is –- A, it's very clumsy, and B, there is lots of good public-policy reasons to not proceed on that basis.

So I would like to avoid doing that if I can, and I would appreciate the advice from Mr. Rogers on that issue.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I certainly expected Mr. Rogers would give that request due consideration, and if you have difficulties resolving that, you can address the Board on that subject.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Just on that point, in the few cases where I have worked with this kind of issue, counsel have generally filed a redacted argument, as well as a complete argument, and one is held in confidence and one is not.

It is, as Mr. Rogers pointed out earlier, problematic, but that is certainly how we have proceeded in the few cases I have been involved in.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It could be done.  There is no question we could have parallel arguments, and so on.  And if that's necessary in this case, that's the way it will be, but I am gathering that, in your view, there may be room for some latitude, and I will leave that to you and Mr. Rogers to sort out.

And, Mr. Rogers, you can address the Board on that subject if you need to.  Fair enough, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's fine sir.  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  No examination.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Maybe I am the only one with aging assets, but I can't hear you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Panel has no questions.  The witness panel is excused.  Thank you very much for your assistance.  And we will take a short break, and we will -- is your third panel available, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, they are, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will reconvene at 20 minutes to 4:00, and, as I mentioned, we will go to 4:30 and probably not a minute later.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

--- Recess taken at 3:23 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:44 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, is the panel ready to be sworn?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you. 
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3 - OM&A AND CAPITAL: SHARED SERVICES, COMPENSATION AND STAFFING

Debra Vines, Sworn


Keith McDonell, Sworn


Tom Goldie, Sworn


Mike Winters, Sworn


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, sir.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Ladies and gentlemen, let me start with the left, with you, Mr. Winters.

Mr. Winters, I understand, sir, that you are a mechanical engineering graduate of Queen's University?

MR. WINTERS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have worked in various capacities in the electrical industry and other industries, starting in 1996 with Ontario Hydro One as the customer information system implementation system officer?

MR. WINTERS:  That is correct.  I was an Andersen Consulting employee at the time.

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, I see, but working on Hydro as a client, were you?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae has been set out for us at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 14; that's an accurate reflection of your qualifications, I assume?

MR. WINTERS:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  I know you have appeared before this Board previously.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I think on one other occasion?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I won't go through your whole CV, but I see from 2005 to 2006, you worked for Fortegra Inc. as director of business solutions and utility consulting?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you joined Hydro One, it appears, in 2006?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is chief information officer?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be responding to?

MR. WINTERS:  General information technology including cornerstone, outsourcing, as well as some telecom.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Goldie.

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand, sir, that you, among other things, hold a master of industrial relations from the University of Toronto?

MR. GOLDIE:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You are presently the chair of the Canadian Electricity Association human resources committee?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae here is set out at tab 19, schedule 1, page 4 of Exhibit A; and it's an accurate reflection of your experience, sir?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I note that it appears you began your career with Hydro in 1977; is that correct?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And have you been with the company since that time in a variety of functions?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I have.

MR. ROGERS:  Your present position, as I understand it, is senior vice-president corporate services?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And prior to that, from 1999 to 2002, you were vice-president of human resources and labour relations?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell us, Mr. Goldie, what areas of the evidence will you be responding to?

MR. GOLDIE:  I am going to be responding to the sections on corporate staffing, on compensation, and the comparison of wages and salaries.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

MR. GOLDIE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, Mr. Goldie, have you ever testified before this Board before?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, I have not.  I am a rookie.

MR. ROGERS:  Welcome.

MR. GOLDIE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  To your right, we have Mr. Keith McDonell, who I think is known to the Board.

MR. McDonell, your CV is filed at page 8 of schedule 1, tab 19, Exhibit A?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  It's an accurate reflection of your qualifications?

MR. McDONELL:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  You have testified before the Board on a couple of other occasions, I think, on compensation issues?

MR. McDONELL:  That is true.

MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is manager of human resource -- manager human resources operations with Hydro One?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with?

MR. McDONELL:  I, too, will be able to speak to issues around corporate staffing, compensation and benefits.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Fine.  Thank you very much.

And finally, if I might deal with you Ms. Vines, Ms. Vines, I understand that you are presently the director of corporate planning and regulatory finance with the company?

MS. VINES:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  If I look at your curriculum vitae found at page 13 of the CV schedule, you have a listing here of your employment; it's an accurate history of your experience, I take it?

MS. VINES:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, I see that you have worked for a number of other companies, starting back in 1981 with the Alberta Labour Relations Association?

MS. VINES:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And then with SaskPower fro '84 to '85, in the human resources department?

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Calgary District Hospital Group from 1985 to 1986, in labour relations?

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have been employed with Hydro or its predecessor company since, I think, 1990?

MS. VINES:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And previously, according to your CV, you were involved mostly within the human resources areas within Hydro or Hydro One; is that correct?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I have been.

MR. ROGERS:  When were you appointed as director of corporate planning and regulatory finance?

MS. VINES:  One year ago.

MR. ROGERS:  So you are relatively new in the position?

MS. VINES:  Yes, I am.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you ever testified here before?

MS. VINES:  I did once, in an HR capacity.

MR. ROGERS:  Human resources capacity?

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  So this is your first appearance here in the area of finance?

MS. VINES:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with?

MS. VINES:  I will be responding to issues with common cost allocation, affiliate service agreements and shared services, which would include common corporate functions and services, asset management, real estate and fleet.

MR. ROGERS:  So not human resources, but financial matters?

MS. VINES:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Goldie, as the -- I will say the chair of this panel, can you confirm for us, please, that the evidence for which this panel is responsible is, so far as you are aware, an accurate summary of the company's affairs?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, sir.

MR. GOLDIE:  You are welcome.

MR. ROGERS:  The panel is available for questioning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Faye, I think you are up.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am counsel for Energy Probe in this proceeding.

I am going to move briskly, since we are going to adjourn at 4:30.

The first question I would like to ask you concerns Energy Probe IR No. 4; that's Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 4.

Do you have that turned up?

MR. McDONELL:  We do.

MR. FAYE:  This IR concerns your PowerFlex benefits package, and I have a very simple question.

If you look at page 2, this talks about MCP employees who were hired on after January 1st, have something other than the standard PowerFlex package when they retire, and it's called a "catastrophic benefit plan"?

Can you just plain to the Board what a catastrophic plan is?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I can.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Whatever it is, I don't want one.

[Laughter.]

MR. FAYE:  Nor do I.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I can -- I can help you out with that.  I do have to back up a little bit, because the catastrophic plan is part of a program for MCP staff that ere hired after January 2004.  They are under a different package called "personal choice" and for those employees who fall under "personal choice" when they retire, assuming they have 10 years of service with the company, they are entitled to purchase a catastrophic benefit plan.

And the catastrophic benefit plan is something that they can purchase -- it would cover off 75 percent of prescription drugs and some monies towards nursing services.

So it's not as provided as the health and dental plan for grandfathered employees under the PowerFlex program.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the term "catastrophic" is of no particular significance?

MR. McDONELL:  It's meant to be just enough benefit to cover off the most severe of illnesses.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Our next question concerns Energy Probe No. 6; that's Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 6.

Do you have that one up?

MS. VINES:  Just one moment, please.

Yes, I have that.

MR. FAYE:  This IR asked about utilization factors for your fleet equipment, and you provided a chart that lists utilization factors, and I am quite impressed.  They are unusually good utilization factors, and I wonder if I am understanding how they were calculated.

Would you be able to describe how you calculate these factors?

MS. VINES:  I believe, in general terms -- I have not seen a detailed analysis, but my understanding of utilization is the percentage of time during which each of these classifications of vehicles is used and, in fact, productive and charged against a particular work program.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And that's consistent with my understanding of how these factors are, but I have never seen any this high, and particularly for work equipment.

Would I be right in understanding that if a crew takes one of these trucks out in the morning, it gets reported as useful and used?

MS. VINES:  I believe that's the case, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And if it sits in the garage, the alternative is true?

MS. VINES:  That's true.

MR. FAYE:  So it's a function of what trucks or vehicles or work platforms leave the shop in the morning, if they are out for the day.  Whether or not they are used, they still get reported for utilization purposes?

MS. VINES:  I believe that is the case.

MR. FAYE:  That would explain it, then.  Thanks.

Could we move to Energy Probe 21; that's I-2-21?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  These will also show up on the screen in front of you.

MS. VINES:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  This one concerns human resource cost increases over the test period, and some of those increases are relatively significant, so I wanted to delve into a little bit of the reasoning for that.

Now, you provided explanations (a) through (e), and in two of those situations you have said this particular explanation is worth so much of the increase.  So that on explanation (d), the new grad program, that's responsible for 13 percent of the increase, and advertising for on-campus recruitment accounted for 3 percent.  So that's 16 percent.

And I wonder if you could just elaborate on where is the other 86 percent?

MR. McDONELL:  I can help you here.  I won't be able to account for the full 86 percent in percentages, but I can give you the groups where those costs lie.  First of all, there is going to be -- some amount of that will be just pure labour escalation increases.  There will also be -- and as you have seen in the evidence, perhaps, there is a significant amount of recruitment that we are doing within the organization, and since we support the recruitment exercise, we see an increase in those costs.

Training is another area that we are incurring some extra costs on as we have more and more staff.  We provide non-technical type training, as well as coaching and supervisory training.

And I guess the last bucket, if you will, of costs will be this new initiative that we have launched this year called "Craft of Management", which is sort of a holistic approach to teaching basic management principles in the organization with a focus of roles and accountabilities.

MR. FAYE:  Except perhaps for that last one, the previous three, labour escalation, recruitment costs, training costs, these would have been in your costs before.  Do I understand you to say that they are just higher now, because you are doing more of this stuff?

MR. McDONELL:  A little bit of that.  If I could just go back to the recruitment cost, we have engaged an organization to be a third party partner for us to help with our recruitment, and so that would be some of the cost that would be associated with that.  That would be a new cost.

MR. FAYE:  And would that third party be offsetting otherwise internal staff costs if you didn't have them?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, it would, Mr. Faye, because otherwise we would have to bring on additional staff into our organization.  That's why we think it's prudent to enter into this relationship.

MR. FAYE:  Just looking at a couple of numbers, then, in response to part (a), you said during the test period 1,600 employees will be eligible for undiscounted pension, and approximately 310 will retire, in your estimation.

I wonder, how does that compare with, say, the previous few years?  How many did you actually see retire in, say, 2009?

MR. McDONELL:  In 2009, we had 111 employees actually retire.  I will just go back a couple years for you to give you a sense.  In 2008 we had 106, and in 2007, 76.

If I could just maybe be a little bit helpful, to give you a sense of what's going on now, we have seen actually an increase in the amount of retirement in 2010.  If I did a comparison between the first half of 2010 versus the first half of 2009, we have seen a 63 percent increase in the number of retirements.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if that trend was to hold, the 2010 number would be somewhere around 150, 160?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  My math was about 320 over the test period, yes.

MR. FAYE:  The new grad program, you have always had a new grad program, as I understand it; is that right?

MR. McDONELL:  We have had a new grad program since 2000.

MR. FAYE:  This 20 to 80 grads per year that you have mentioned in part (d) of the response -- sorry, 70 to 80, how does that compare with the number of grads that you would have been taking on earlier in the decade?

MR. McDONELL:  I would say earlier in the decade, when we started up the program, the number would have been a little bit higher.  There was a couple of years, 2005 and 2006, where we did not hire anybody in the new grad category.

Last year, I think we were around the 78 mark, and this year I believe we are anticipating to be hiring 25 for next year.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then could you comment, then, that -- the new grad program is accounting for 13 percent of the increase in costs, but it doesn't sound like you are hiring more grads than you did before.  How did you accomplish the work in the past when you were hiring more of these people?

MR. McDONELL:  Sorry, I don't think I understand your question.

MR. FAYE:  Perhaps I misunderstood your answer.  What I just think I heard you say was that, compared to the test years, you have actually hired more new grads in the past as compared to the test years?

MR. McDONELL:  That's fair.

MR. FAYE:  And my question is:  Your costs for the new grad program are accounting for 13 percent of the increase in HR costs during the test period, and I wonder, how did you accommodate a larger number of grads with a lower budget in past years?

MR. McDONELL:  Thanks.  Mr. Goldie just reminded me.  I think what we have done -- of course you can appreciate when you start a program, you start it off from ground zero.  Over the last couple of years, we have found -- you know, through canvassing new grads and what their needs are, we have found areas for which we can improve the new grad training program by bringing in extra training in the area of non-technical training.

We have a little bit of a focus now on leadership development within the new grad population, as well.  We have some programs that we didn't have before.  Project management is one example that I can recall.

So I guess my answer is we have added some extra programs, because we believe that it improves the overall program.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let me turn to Energy Probe 25, Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 25.

MS. VINES:  I have that.

MR. FAYE:  This IR concerns real estate and facilities costs, which have also increased by a substantial amount.  The response is -- in part (b), we asked you:
"Please describe additional facilities required in the bridge and test years."


You have made a list of two, four, six, eight different operation centres.

And my question is: Are any of these proposed facilities required for the work that is being suspended, the Schedule A projects under the GEA?  Were any of these planned in contemplation of having that work to do?

MS. VINES:  No, I don't believe any of these facilities were directly related to the green energy work that you are referencing.

I can give you a couple of examples for reasons for these facilities.

So Campbellford, for example, we currently lease from OPG.  They do not want to make that facility available anymore, so then we have to enter into a new arrangement.

Bolton and Navan are both new requirements, based on our customer operations requirements, who have identified that they need to have a Hydro One presence to better serve customers.

The Picton one, I think you have heard about in previous hearings.  It is a replacement of an older facility, and an enlarged version, but I do not believe these are driven by the Schedule A projects that you are referencing.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thanks for that.

I am just going to move to my computer, where I have the rest of this catalogue.

This next one concerns Energy Probe 48.  It talks about reduced compensation, which is a reference to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

And at line 22 on page 9 of that schedule, there is mention of reducing compensation and benefits for new hires, and there is some elaboration in the IR response that this applies to Society and MCP staff.

Do you have comparable compensation reduction plans for PWU-represented employees?

MR. McDONELL:  If you -- I think you are referring to specifically the new pension plan and the new benefit plan for MCP and Society staff.  No, we don't, not for PW.  We don't have those plans in place.

MR. FAYE:  I think I was also referring to the Society wage structure, where, if I understand it correctly, it looks like you pretty much eliminated the 115 percent of midpoint level, and the top grade is now what used to be 100 percent midpoint; is that right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is true.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, so have you adjusted or do you intend to try to adjust PWU grade similarly, or reduce overall PWU wage levels?

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, you really are comparing apples to oranges here, when you are comparing those type of wage schedules.  They are dramatically different.

So to deal with the PWU wage schedules, we have done a number of things.  For instance, you have heard object our PW Hiring Hall, which is the ability for us to hire staff on a contingent basis, and they don't join our company pension or benefit plan, so their compensation, total compensation is lower.

We have also introduced a number of new, simplified jobs at a lower rate; meter reader B, switching agent, would be a couple examples of those, where we can simplify the work.  Rather than have a higher-paid employee perform those duties, we could have a lower-skilled, lower-paid classification.

MR. FAYE:  Any other initiatives that would reduce overall compensation levels?

MR. McDONELL:  In the area of wage schedules?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. GOLDIE:  I think I can add to Mr. McDonell's response there.

The compensation levels for both Power Workers' Union and the Society are bargained wage schedules.  The only way that we are able to make those changes is through the collective bargaining process.

We will be going into bargaining with the Power Workers' Union in early 2011, and that will be our opportunity to look at changes.

The changes that you are referring to in the documentation now were the result of contract negotiations with the Society in a prior year.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

I guess what I am trying to get at, since the Board decisions in your distribution rates application -- that would have been EB-2009-0096 -- and the transmission application, EB-2008-0272, have wages and benefits for PWU employees changed in any way?

MR. GOLDIE:  They have not been reduced, if that's your question.  During the bargaining process, we are always looking at trying to reduce compensation levels, or reduce the increase of compensation levels and reduce the overall cost of labour.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  You are familiar, Mr. Goldie, with the decisions of the Board in those two previous rate cases?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I am.

MR. FAYE:  You would be aware, of course, that the Board disallowed a certain amount of compensation on the basis that the PWU wages seemed to be inflated compared to other industry standards?  Are you aware of that?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I am aware that the report is that they are higher than others in the market.  That is correct.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  So the real question I would like to ask you:  Is there anything that Hydro One can tell the Board at this application that would persuade them not to do similarly, that is not to reduce your compensation allowance in this application?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes, I believe there is.  Hydro One is committed to reducing cost increases on the labour side of the business.  It's a very difficult thing to do when 90 percent of the work force is unionized.  As you are aware, collective agreements are legal, binding documents, and what's there is there until there is a negotiated agreement otherwise.

We cannot unilaterally make changes to collective agreements and wage levels.

We have -- if you look at our history, and as been shown in the Mercer study, where we have, in fact, complete control over compensation levels, which is with our management staff, we are a little bit below the median in that study.  We have taken action where action can be taken.

Where we had a little bit more control and influence in the bargaining process with the Society, we are not as high above market.  In fact, we are essentially at the median, according to the Mercer study.

So we are taking action.

When you look at where we are with respect to the Power Workers' Union, we are above market or above the median.  But when you look at us compared to other successor companies from old Ontario Hydro, we are doing very well in terms of keeping those rate increases down –- those wage increases down.

So I think we are doing quite a bit in that area, but it's a very slow process.  When you are involved in the collective bargaining arena, you are getting incremental change, not step change, but we are continuing to work on that incremental change to keep our costs down.

We realize that labour costs are a concern to the ratepayer, and we are doing our best to keep those down, but it's very slow process and it's something that you have to be vigilant in.

And I think as the report shows, the greater the control we have over it, the closer we are keeping it to or below median.

MR. FAYE:  Thanks for that.  And I think if I could summarize that, they seem to be the very arguments that you put forward in the two previous rate applications that we have referenced here, so I conclude that there is nothing new; it's still the same situation?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, I would, with all due respect, disagree with that.

They are similar arguments that we have put forward in the past, but the premise is that you are not going to have a quick fix to this.  You have to develop a strategy and you have to work towards it.  It takes time to get there.

I think if you look at the history of compensation from 1999 until the present time, you will see that the slope of increases in our organization has been lower than other comparator groups, especially when you look at the former Ontario Hydro companies, which we are very closely tied to.

Our strategy, particularly with the Power Workers' Union, recognizing that it is very difficult to bring wage increases down, or to keep the increases at a lower level, is to look at productivity increases.  And I think if you look at the evidence which has been filed, we have a number of examples where we have kept other costs, other labour-related costs down, and had improvements there.

And I think we have got a long history of that.  So if it appears that nothing has changed, it's because we are implementing a long-term strategy, recognizing that a sudden change and a quick fix is not going to be successful here.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks for that.

MR. GOLDIE:  You're welcome.

MR. FAYE:  Just excuse me for a minute.  I normally work off paper, but I didn't have this completely prepared until this afternoon, so you will have to endure me for a moment here.

Can I turn you to our Energy Probe IR 52?  Do you have that up?

MR. GOLDIE:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  This has to do with the very subject that you just sort of talked about, and it's the comparison of Hydro One wages and benefits to others.  And part of it says you can't compare it to other distributors, because you are unique, and that you would much rather be compared to OPG and to Bruce Power.

And one of the reasons why you think -- or it appears to me one of the reasons you think that that's a good comparison is that those positions that you are comparing to used to be equal classifications when Ontario Hydro existed as an integrated entity.  Is that a proper interpretation of your comments in response to our part (a) of that IR?

MR. GOLDIE:  I would say that that is part of the reason, that all of those organizations started at the same point in 1999, and you're able to trace the history with the same bargaining units and the same compensation levels and trace them over a period of time, over an 11-year period.

So that's part of the reason.  The other part of the reason that we compare to those organizations, though, is the dynamics of the collective bargaining process.  And for this purpose, we are talking about the Society and the Power Workers' Union.

In order to get a collective agreement ratified or to make alterations in your compensation system, you not only have to get the bargaining unit on side; you have to get the members on side, because the collective agreement must be ratified by the members. If it is not ratified, you are not going to get those changes made.

In both the Power Workers' Union and the Society, the members tend to look at the other successor companies as the most relevant comparator group.  So we are always being tracked, by the people who are ultimately going to support or not support that collective agreement, by the other bargaining units which are very similar.

So it's not just that we think it's a good comparison because it shows history.  We are driven to that to be able to make our argument.  We do, at the same time, compare ourselves to other utilities, and we do that on a constant basis, but we have to weigh that off against the value it's going have to the people who are going to be actually ratifying the collective agreement.

MR. FAYE:  That's a novel argument.  I haven't heard that one before.  What I think you are saying is that because they want it, they get it.

MR. GOLDIE:  What I am saying is, because they vote on the agreement, we have to be sensitive to who they are comparing themselves to.

MR. FAYE:  Well, let me just take a couple of quick examples.  Bruce Power and OPG, they don't employ any Powerline maintainers, do they?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, they do not.

MR. FAYE:  Do they employ any substation power maintenance electricians?

MR. GOLDIE:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. FAYE:  So these are two groups that you have significant numbers of in Hydro One; wouldn't that be true?

MR. GOLDIE:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  When you compare them to some comparable position in those generation companies, the name of that classification in the generation company isn't similar, isn't the same as powerline maintainer, is it?

MR. GOLDIE:  No, it's not.  However, at the time that the company split, if you look at the example of a powerline maintainer for example, it was what we called a trade group 1 position.  There were a number of positions in trade group 1, including a number of the positions which continued to exist at Bruce Power and OPG.

They were viewed for compensation purposes as being at the same level of skill and ability; therefore, they were paid at the same level.  So when an employee is looking at -- when a line maintainer, for example, is looking at compensation and they are asked to ratify an agreement, they are looking at the OPG -- sorry, Ontario Power Generation or the Bruce Power collective agreement and saying their trade group 1 is at X.  We are also trade group 1, or we were when we were together.  That's what we are after.

So the job titles are not identical, but the level in the organization is.

MR. FAYE:  And you haven't been able to convince PWU union reps to inform these people that:  It's not the same job, that it's not the same company?  You can't compare that way anymore?  That's 15 years in the past.

Have any of those arguments been made?

MR. GOLDIE:  All of those arguments have been made, but when you are dealing with a group of 3,000 people, it's very difficult to be able to convince them otherwise.  They are looking over at what they view as their normal comparator.

If I may, for just a moment, if we look at the two most recent settlements in the -- amongst the utilities, if we look at PowerStream and if we look at Hydro Ottawa, they are two groups, which are utilities, which have similar representation to what you were mentioning, powerline maintainers.

The PowerStream settlement was a three-year agreement, 3 percent the first year, 2.9 the second, 2.9 the third.  With the inclusion of post retirement benefits, with the movement of 40- and 37-1/2-hour employees to 35 hours with no reduction in wages, the movement from the Barrie employees who came over and joined PowerStream, their wages were lower.  They moved them up to the higher level.

If we go to Ottawa Hydro for a minute, it was three years at 3 percent.  So even when we compare to what's going on with utilities which are almost, in terms of their membership in some cases, identical, it doesn't really help our case very much either.

MR. FAYE:  Because it appears that they are getting generous wage increases; is that what you mean to say?

MR. GOLDIE:  Well, if we encourage the members, as we do, to look elsewhere, when they look elsewhere they are looking at the same levels of compensation in terms of percentage increases.

MR. FAYE:  But in terms of absolute dollars per hour and benefits?

MR. GOLDIE:  Agreed, they are different.  However, you used the example of line maintainer.  They are not that different.  And I think the other issue to recognize is that within the electricity sector in Ontario, amongst employees and unions, there is a perceived pecking order.  And they are trying to maintain that level, and they are doing that by 3 percent.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I understand that.  And if you have evidence that directly compares Hydro One trade group 1-type individuals, of whom there is great numbers of them in your company, if you have evidence that compares to other distributors, is it filed?  Is it filed in this application?

MR. McDONELL:  No, it's not, but if I could just take you to what I think is a very good example, the reason why we didn't put the powerline maintainer classification in here is because we know generation doesn't have line maintainers.  So we wanted to put in classifications that were common.

Back in Ontario Hydro days, we used to have a classification called regional maintainer electrical, and people in that particular classification reside both in Hydro One and OPG and Bruce today.

A regional maintainer electrical in Ontario Hydro days could have worked on the transmission system.  Of course, that's part of Hydro One today.  A regional maintainer electrical could have also worked on the hydroelectric system.

So we have got the very same job, and then what we have done is we have shown the difference over the ten years of where that very same job has gone, and there is now a 12 percent difference between the Hydro One rate and OPG, and a 32 percent rate between Hydro One and Bruce Power for the very same job.

MR. FAYE:  I think that's a very valid comparison for those jobs that do line up.  Surely there are some that are common.  But getting back to what Mr. Goldie is saying, I think that's what intervenors have been asking you all these years.  Why can't you compare to Toronto Hydro and PowerStream and Ottawa Hydro?  It sounds like maybe you have, and if you had that evidence, what your powerline maintainers make compared to those, I think that would be important evidence for the Board to hear.

Would you be prepared to undertake to file some of that, if it's not already filed?

MR. ROGERS:  I think to the extent that's possible.  I am a little sensitive because I know they are going to be getting into negotiations with the PWU soon, if they haven't already.

So I am kind of looking for some help here.  If there is information you would have, Mr. Goldie, that you spoke about a moment ago that wouldn't prejudice your negotiations, then we would undertake, I think, to file that evidence with the Board.

MR. GOLDIE:  Certainly.  The information, two examples that I just gave are part of the public record, and I am sure the Power Workers' Union is aware of those settlements.  So I don't think that would hurt.  So we would be quite willing to do that.

The only other thing that I would point out is the examples that we have been talking about, when you are looking at LDCs, are primarily on the distribution side, but they do give comparatives on the issue we are faced with, where we have jobs that -- we don't distinguish between TX and DX line maintainers, for example.

But certainly, we would be willing to provide that.

MR. FAYE:  That would be fine, and I think of you have a reasonable comparison and you come out somewhat higher, I don't think anybody is going to have any trouble with that, because you do have legitimate other systems, like transmission lines that they work on, that distribution linemen in utilities don't.

But we have been unable to get that information before, and if you can provide that, then I won't pursue any further cross today, Mr. Chairman.  That would be all my questions.

MR. ROGERS:  Just before we leave this, I wonder if Mr. Goldie can just give us an idea of when were these settlements.  Are they fairly recent or --

MR. GOLDIE:  These settlements are very recent; within the last two months.

MR. ROGERS:  That's why they are not filed?

MR. GOLDIE:  That's right.

MR. FAYE:  What we are going to be comparing here, just to be clear, we are not going to get back, saying:  PowerStream got three percent, and we are only giving our guys one and a half.

We want to look at the absolute value of the wage level.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The hourly rate plus the benefit package, an apples-to-apple comparison.

MR. FAYE:  As best we can, yes.

MS. HELT:  If we can just note that as J4.7. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.7:  to PROVIDE COMPARISONS OF WAGE LEVELS TO RECENT LEVELS IN LDC SETTLEMENTS.

MS. HELT:  And just to ensure that I have it correctly marked here, to provide comparisons of wage levels with Ontario LDCs; does that accurately represent the undertaking?

MR. ROGERS:  I think I will say with certain LDCs, because there are a couple of recent wage settlements.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Reflecting recent settlements?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you Mr. Faye.

We will then adjourn for today and this week, to resume Monday morning at 9:30.

And I have mentioned, I think, previously that we can only sit until 2:00 o'clock on Tuesday.  We will try to go straight through on Tuesday, with a half-hour break.

But without further ado, we will adjourn until Monday morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:27 p.m.
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